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Juan Manuel Fabra valles

MEMBER

FORMERPREsmENT
EUROPEAN COURT OF AUDITORS

International Federation of Accountants
To the IPSASB Technical Director
545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor
New York, NY 10017

1IM

.~= ~

Dear Sir,

Subject: Draft for new International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS):
Financial reporting under the cash basis of accounting

~

It is with great interest that I have read your Prosposed International Public Sector
Accounting Standard: Financial reporting Under the Cash Basis of Accounting -Disclosure

Requirements for Recipients of External Assistance.

I am pleased to send you my comments, made on a personal basis, on the exposure draft dated

February 2005. ,
Yours sincerely, ~ ~~-.-~'

;'

Wnex

QQPoY.: Mr. Philippe Adhemar, IPSASB Chair

(+352) 4398-45592
(+352) 4398-46818

,. , ..-~--- --:-.

Telephone
Fax :

12, rue Alcide De Gasperi

L- 1615 Luxembour~
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Luxembourg, 11 May 2005

CESOO2860ENO1-0SA1.doc

NOTE on the EXPOSURE DRAFT
"Disclosure requirements for recipients of external assistance"

Introduction

1. The exposure draft is based on and an extension of the standard for financial reporting under
the cash basis of accounting. The need for this exposure draft seems to stem from two
considerations:

a) providers of external assistance require recipients to follow a variety of accounting practices.
Adhering to a number of different practices and reporting requirements imposes a
significant burden on recipients;

b) the implementation of standards will improve the quality and comparability of financial
information reported by the public sector.

It would help providers of external assistance in their decision making on granting assistance to
countries.

2. In the compulsory part of the Cash-Basis Standard it is stated that the financial information
should be understandable, relevant, reliable and complete (paragraph 1.3.32). The infom1ation
should be timely (paragraph 1.4.1.) and should allow comparison with other years (paragraph
1.4.16). In the optional part of the Cash-Basis Standard it is recommended to provide
information on payments by third parties and proceeding from borrowings (paragraph 2.1.23)
and on ~ssets and liabilities (paragraph 2.1.33). To an extent these optional paragraphs are
translated into the exposure draft for aid-recipient countries.

3. Three questions are to answered for assessing the exposure draft:

is the infotnlation to be provided relevant;a)

are the disclosure requirements realistic;b)

c) are there alternatives.

Rele\Tance of re~uesting information

12, RUE ALODE DE GASPERI -L 1615 LUXEMBOURG
TELEPHONE STANDARD: (+352) 4398-1/ TELEF...x:STANDARD: (+352) 439342
J;-11..n ."""""". "JI"AIJnj@F.r:A.F.IJ.1NT
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4. In principle most of the infotnlation requested to be disclosed is relevant for knowing the
(macro-economic) financial volume of the recipient countries' activities, whether financed by d1e
countries or by external actors. It is doubtful, however, whether this infotnlation will be used by
donor countries' decision-makers for granting aid (see Annex, points 2 and 4).

5. The problem of recipient countries concerning reporting to dle donor countries according to
many different formats pardy relates to overall public expenditure reporting (in particular on
macro-economic assistance). The problem relates, however, much more to reporting at a much
lower operational level, i.e. at dle level of programmes and projects. It is difficult to see how the

exposure draft contributes to solve that problem.

Is the exposure draft realistic?

6. The requirements, stipulated in d1e exposure draft, build further on d1e Cash-Basis Standard.
It is very likely, however, d1at many of d1e recipient countries will not be able to meet d1e
requirements of d1at standard (see paragraph 2 above). In d1at sense d1e transition period of two

years to implement d1e standard, set out in d1e exposure draft, may be unrealistic.

7. A number of disclosures, required by the draft are not realistic: in particular the requirements
on disclosing information on military aid and the information on conditions of agreements are

difficult to materialise (see point 3 and 5 of the Annex).

8. The perceived donors' need for ilie information to be able to assess sustainability of
operations and of assistance is not based on current practice (see point 4 of ilie Annex).

Are there alternatives

9. Certain infomlation requested by the draft exposure is collected by the OECD at the level of
the donors. But even this infomlation is late and incomplete. Beginning 2005 only infomlation is
available on transfers made in 2003, as declared by the donors in 2004. Obviously at first an
important effort should be made by the donors to provide the infomlation before the recipients

can be requested to include this infomlation in their financial statements.

""c,~--cc;:~~ ~~~~,~~-
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ANNEX

St2ecifi.c comments re!;}uested b~ the IPSASB

1. External assistance as defined in paragraph 5 excludes NGOs. The problem is that NGOs
intervene in a wide variety of domains. One could argue that emergency aid, given by or
through NGOs can be excluded as this type of aid is by definition not structural of character.
On the other hand NGOs implement a large number of activities in the field of health,
education, rural development including water supply and sanitation systems. Given the
possible impact on local communities and the financial importance of the cumulation of the
interventions, NGOs' interventions should not be excluded from the definition of "external

-
assistance".

~.-~.~~~

2. In the same context it may be reconsidered whether emergency aid (paragraph 48) should be
included in the definition of external assistance:

a) it is not a structural aid:

b) it can not be planned:

c) it is not intended to contribute to the development of the country (apart from creating
pre-conditions for relaunching further development after the catastrophy);

d) it may be extremely difficult to collect reliable financial information concerning the
emergency aid.

It is noted that "structural" food aid is a different type of assistance; this can be included in
the definition of external assistance.

3. The categories of extemal assistance to be disclosed as shown under paragraph 14 could be
reconsidered:

a) Emergency assistance could be abandoned (see point 2 above);

~~~~ b) Military expenditure should be included under "Other assistance" if at all: no donor or
recipient country will present this information;

~

c) Macro-economic support (including direct budget support) could be shown as a specific
category of development assistance.

The disclosure of balances in undrawn external assistance (paragraphs 22-24) is unpractical
and irrelevant with the exception of the information on loans. Firstly, the arguments given on
sustainability (paragraph 24) assume a causal relationship between the undrawn balances and
the sustainability of on-going projects and prograrnrnes. In practice there may be no
relationship between the undrawn balances for, say, new programmes and the on-going
programmes for which no further funding is foreseen.

Secondly, it is assumed that donors take this type of financial infotnlation in consideration
when deciding on funding programmes of projects. This does not correspond to reality, even
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apart from the fact that possible relevant information will not be available at the moment of

the decision.

Disclosure of terms and conditions of external assistance for grants (paragraphs 26-32) would
put an enormous burden on the recipient country and on the reader to digest an enormous
amount of extremely varied information. This information should be limited to conditions
for loans and/ or for reform programmes, including information on the non-compliance of

these types of conditions (paragraph 36).

~.-~.-- 6. The information on non-cash goods in kind (paragraph 44-47) may be extremely difficult to
c --retrieve and may often be outside the "official" channels. Howeve1:, the information on food,~aid in particular where channelled through government services should be disclosed. ~ -,--.

The transition period of two years (paragraphs 52-53) seems reasonable, assuming that an

ade!;luate cash-basis in alread~ al2l21ied.

~~~~
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14.3-03 

 
                                                                                     Erik Peters, FCA 
                                                                                     Member, Consultative Group 
                                                                                     27 Creek’s End Lane 
                                                                                     Ottawa, Ontario K2H 1C7 
                                                                                     Canada 
 
May 27, 2005 
 
 
 
The Technical Director  
International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board 
545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor 
New York, New York 10017 
United States of America 
 
Dear Matthew, 

 
Comments on the Exposure Draft: Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of 
Accounting – Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of External Assistance 
 
My answers to the specific questions are as follows: 
 
Question 1: The definition of  “external assistance is sufficiently broad. 
 
Question 2: All assistance received from NGO’s should be included, especially goods 
                     or services in-kind as referred to in paragraphs 44 – 49. 
 
Question 3: Disclosure of external assistance by “major classes” is sufficient as long as 
                     guidance of the characteristics of major classes is provided, for example 
                     distinguishing grants from loans at below market rates or goods or services  
                      in kind. 
 
Question 4: Paragraph 22 is sufficient, but needs to be modified if the disclosure 
                     of major classes as advocated in response to question 3 is adopted. 
 
Question 5: The proposed disclosure in paragraphs 26 –28 and the related paragraphs are 
                     sufficient. 
 
Question 6: The general principle of valuing non-cash goods-in-kind at fair 
                     value is appropriate. The latitude provided in paragraph 48, where in the 
                     last sentence the word “value” is used without the “fair” attribute, is useful 
                     not only in emergency situations, but also in situations where fair value 
                     is not determinable in the world market or in the economy of the donor. 
                     Nevertheless the value in other situation should be reasonably determinable,  
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                     for example, based on a supply agreement. 
Question 7: Although the standard is appropriate, the capacity to provide the disclosures 
                    required may well be beyond the capability of many, especially developing, 
                    countries. Thus it could well be an obstacle for governments adopting the  
                    standards for Financial Reporting under the Cash Basis of Accounting for 
                    the first time. I would suggest that paragraph 56 be expanded to allow for  
                    the effective date of this standard to be up to three years after the IPSAS for 
                    Financial reporting under the Cash Basis of Accounting has first been  
                    adopted. 
 
Question 8 (a): The period should be three years, as the standards affect both the  
                     reporting government and the organizations providing the external 
                     assistance. 
 
Question 8 (b): The proposed exemption is appropriate. 
 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to comment and I hope you will find these comments 
useful. 
 
Sincerely yours, 
 
 
Erik Peters   
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14.3-05 

Comments on Exposure Draft No.24 
 
From: 
 
Teruo Kawakami 
Certified Public Accountant – Japan 
Managing Director,  
Asahi Ltd. 
4-3-20 Toranomon, Kamiyacho MT Building 14th Floor 
Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-0001 
Japan 
 
Member of the Council of ODA Evaluation of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
Member of the Committee of Evaluation of Governmental Agencies of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs 
 
 
This Statement is intended to apply to national governments and their agencies of the countries who are 
recipients of external assistance. To avoid confusion about scope of application of each reporting requirements, 
the terms ‘national governments’ and ‘governmental agencies’ are to be used instead of the more general terms 
such as ‘entities’ or ‘recipients’. The explanation about the flow of external resources given in paragraph 20 is 
to be moved to earlier paragraph and the explanations on the reporting requirements are to be given with 
reference to the explanation about the flow of external resources. 
 
Regarding whether ‘external resource’ is to include not only official resources but resources by or through NGO, 
those resources from NOG are to be included in the statement of cash receipts and payments of the national 
governments or governmental agencies as long as they ‘control’ those flow of resources, but it is usually hard to 
determine who ‘control’ the flow of resources when NGO provides its services directly to people living in the 
country. 
 
As long as the purpose of the disclosure in the Statement is to require the recipient national government or 
governmental agencies to disclose the flow of development funds they receive, specifications of resources as 
prescribed in paragraph 13-15 are not to be used since classification of funds under such specifications might be 
easily subject to arbitrariness of the government. 
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DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR RECIPIENTS OF 
EXTERNAL ASSISTANCE (EXPOSURE DRAFT 24) 

- IFAC International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board 
 

Response from the Treasury of the Republic of Cyprus –  
Accounting and Financial Services Directorate (AFSD) 

 
Introduction 

 
1. We comment the IFAC International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board for 

developing this standard for accounting of external assistance by its recipients, 
who use cash basis of accounting as the basis for preparation of their financial 
statements. 
 
Analysis of external assistance by category 
 

2. We consider that it is probable not to find recipient countries adherent to the 
disclosure of military assistance, as required by paragraphs 13 and 14, and 
especially the one made in-kind, as required by paragraph 44, obviously due to 
public benefit reasons.  
 
External assistance paid by or paid to third parties 
 

3. Whilst external assistance ‘paid by third parties’ is mentioned in paragraphs 13 and 
14 and also in Appendix 1, p. 24 and 25, it is not clear for us whether it should be 
‘paid to third parties’, instead, given the term ‘third party settlements’ used and the 
understanding of the content of paragraph BC10.  

 
Receipt of goods or services in-kind 

 
4. The proposed standard should consider the particular difficulties for fair value 

measurement, and the subjectivity involved, in recognising in the notes to the 
accounts the goods and services in-kind received as external assistance (required 
by paragraph 44). 

 
Suggested good practice by the providers of external assistance 
 

5. It would be useful for the recipients of external assistance, if their providers of 
assistance had to satisfy – in their financials or as part of their financials - the 
mandatory requirements of the proposed standard (with regards to the assistance 
provided and not received, of course) for each of the public entity, separately, to 
whom they provide assistance.  Such a requirement would facilitate the recipient 
public entities to prepare their financial statements according to the requirements of 
the proposed standard and to reconcile their records with the corresponding ones 
of their providers.  Obviously, this practice would lead to many public entities to 
seek compliance with the standard.  
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Disclosure of separate providers of external assistance  
 

6. Although paragraph 15 of the proposed standard requires for major classes of 
providers of assistance to be disclosed, given the suggestion noted in the previous 
section of this response regarding good practice by the providers of external 
assistance is implemented, the classes of providers could be analysed by each 
provider.  Thus, the financial statements of the recipients to be prepared under this 
standard would be more transparent for their users. 
 
Additional disclosure requirements 
 

7. Further to the requirements commented in sections 2 and 4 of this response, we 
consider that the following disclosure requirements outlined in the Exposure Draft 
are not essential for disclosure purposes in the financials, since they are assessed 
of either minor importance or difficult to be adhered to or not practical to comply 
with.  Therefore, we think that these requirements would be better included in a 
section to be named ‘Encouraged disclosures’, representing optional good 
practice: 
• undrawn external assistance (paragraphs 22 and 23) 
• terms and conditions of external assistance loans or grants (paragraphs 26 to 

28) 
• guarantees (paragraph 33) 
• non-compliance with terms and conditions of external assistance (paragraph 

36) 
• repayment terms of external assistance loans (paragraphs 39 and 40) 
• disclosure of rescheduled or cancelled external assistance debt (paragraph 50). 

 
Conclusions 
 

8. We believe that the development of this standard could assist public sector entities, 
which use the cash basis of accounting as the basis of preparation of their financial 
statements, to sustain or increase the assistance currently received from 
multilateral and bilateral external assistance agencies, by governments and 
government agencies by the use of minimum extra resources from the ones 
currently used to meet their statutory requirements. 

 
9. However, in order for public entities to achieve external assistance by the minimum 

use of extra resources, the proposed standard should not include onerous 
disclosure requirements as mandatory.  If this is not the case, many recipient 
governments would not be in a position to claim compliance with IPSAS Cash 
basis of accounting.  Also, in our opinion, extensive detailed requirements - which 
cover both significant and less significant areas and items of disclosure of both 
frequent and less frequent use - could lead the users (and particularly providers of 
external assistance) to have to examine sets of financial statements with high 
volume of information regarding external assistance compared to the content of the 
other notes to the financials, which is also of major importance for financial 
decision making. 
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The Technical Director 

International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board 

545 Fifth Avenue, 14th floor 

New York, New York 10017 

United States of America 

 

13 June 2005 

 

Dear Sir 

 

COMMENTS ON EXPOSURE DRAFT 24 – FINANCIAL REPORTING UNDER THE 
CASH BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
RECIPIENTS OF EXTERNAL ASSISTANCE 
 

We welcome the opportunity to provide comments on the proposed International Public 

Sector Accounting Standard – Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of Accounting 

– Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of External Assistance. 

 

Overall, we support the proposed Standard as the reporting of these disclosures would 

be useful to all users of the financial statements in assessing the overall financial 

position of an entity, including the level and sustainability of external assistance 

received.  

  
Our letter to you has been drafted in three parts for ease of reference, and are as 

follows: 

• Part A – Specific matters for comment 

• Part B – General comments 

• Part C – Editorial comments 

 
Please feel free to contact us should you have any queries on our comments, or if you 

would like to discuss them further. 

 

Your sincerely  

 

Zahra Cassim 

Chief Executive 
 

 

Tel: (012) 470 9450   Fax: (012) 348 4150   Email: ipfa@ipfa.co.za Website: www.ipfa.co.za 
Menlyn Square, East Block, 1st Floor, Cnr Lois & Gobie Streets, Menlyn PO Box 75214. Lynwood Ridge 0040 
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PART A - SPECIFIC MATTERS FOR COMMENT 

 
1. Whether the proposed definition of “external assistance” in paragraph 5 is sufficiently broad to 

encompass all official resources received. 

We believe that the definition of external assistance is sufficiently broad to encompass all types of 

external assistance received from official sources.  

 

2. Whether other sources of assistance, such as assistance provided by nongovernmental 

organizations (NGOs), should also be included in the definition of “external assistance”. Currently, 

the Exposure Draft requires that entities disclose all official resources received. Official resources 

as defined in paragraph 5 would exclude certain assistance received from NGOs. 

 

While the initial need for developing the Standard was on the request of agencies or similar 

entities providing development assistance (presumably in the form of grants and loans) to 

governments or government entities, the scope of the Standard was then extended to encompass 

all types of official assistance received (including in-kind assistance). In the Basis for Conclusions, 

paragraph 11, the IPSASB concluded that assistance in-kind formed an important source of 

external assistance to governments or government entities.   By excluding certain assistance 

provided by NGO’s from the Standard, there may be a significant amount of this type of 

assistance that is not being disclosed in the financial statements of entities that apply cash based 

accounting. The disclosure of this type of assistance may assist users in establishing the extent to 

which a government or entity can meet the requirements of its constituents (i.e. should the aid be 

removed, would the entity be in a position to provide the equivalent services), the reliance of the 

entity on aid, as well as the overall financial sustainability and service delivery of the entity.  

 

In addition to this, the Standard is aligned to the principles contained in the non-exchange 

revenue draft exposure draft (BC6), which does not distinguish between assistance from official or 

non-official sources. We suggest that all assistance provided by NGO’s is included in the 

definition of external assistance on this basis. The definition of ‘official resources’ may need to be 

amended to accommodate instances where assistance is provided without a binding 

arrangement. 

 

3. Whether the Exposure Draft should specify the categories of external assistance as required in 

paragraphs 13-15 or only require the disclosure of external assistance by “major classes” without 

further specification. 

 

The scope paragraph of the Standard indicates that the provisions of the Standard are applicable 

to all entities that prepare the cash basis of accounting, and are recipients of external assistance. 

This assumes that entities, other than whole-of-government, or a Treasury/Finance Department 

are required to apply this Standard. Some of the categories indicated may relate to national 
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aspects of the fiscus i.e. Balance of Payments and Military Assistance, and may not be categories 

of assistance that are ordinarily received by individual or economic entities. While these types of 

assistance may not be received by individual entities, the stipulation of specific categories is 

comprehensive, and prompts users to identify types of transactions in line with the definitions. 

General users of financial statements may be more interested in ‘broad categories’ of assistance, 

while donors might be more interested in the categories proposed in the Standard. Keeping the 

purpose of the Standard in mind, i.e. streamlining requirements for preparers while still meeting 

donor expectations, the categories proposed may be more appropriate than broad categories, as 

well that they provide a good overall picture of how assistance received sustains the various 

activities of the entity.  

 

4.  The proposal to disclose the balance of, and changes in, undrawn external assistance during the 

period (paragraph 22). 

 

We fully support this disclosure as it gives the providers of assistance sufficiently detailed 

information to satisfy their requirements from an accountability perspective. Other users are 

provided pertinent information about the types of assistance received and to be received in future 

periods, which provides an indication of the financial sustainability of the government or entity. 

 

5.  The proposal to disclose the terms and conditions of external assistance agreements as required 

by paragraphs 26-28 details of any non-compliance thereof (paragraph 36). 

 

We fully support this disclosure, for the reasons stated in response to question 4. We would 

however like to emphasis that only those terms and conditions significant to the loan or grant be 

disclosed. Significant terms conditions may include items that would put the loan into default or 

breach, in the case of a grant.  

Paragraph 26 is not prescriptive on this issue, and may result in all terms and conditions of a loan 

or grant being disclosed, resulting in unnecessary volumes of information. 

 

6.  Whether the proposals in paragraph 44 as noted below are appropriate: 

(a) To disclose the fair value of non-cash goods-in-kind; and 

(b) That fair value should be based on the prices of equivalent goods or services in the recipient 

country. 

 

(a) We support the disclosure of assistance received in-kind, as it introduces the concepts 

outlined in non-exchange revenue, and will broaden the current thinking of entities applying the 

cash basis of accounting, and may ultimately assist in the transition from cash to accrual 

accounting. In addition, our current South African legislation requires that all gifts received, in-

kind or otherwise, be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. That being said, we do 

not feel that this disclosure should be limited to official sources only. The response to question 2 

provides additional support for this view.  
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(b) We support this proposal as being the first alternative when valuing the assistance received 

in-kind, seconded by using an international fair value. The use of fair value in the recipients 

economy may however result in a very high fair value being reflected (which may indeed be the 

concept to fair value?). Additional guidance needs to be included as an appendix or 

implementation guide (depending on whether not the Standard conforms with the IASB 

improvements) to assist users in determining what fair value to use, as this may be a very 

‘relative’ concept i.e. what is fair value to one person may not necessarily be fair value to 

another.  For example, entities may experience difficulty in determining a price in their own 

economy or an international market (in this instance the value in the donor’s economy may not 

be appropriate given that the reason for selling the asset is possibly that it is fully utilised and has 

a negligible carrying value). The Standard should prescribe what the reference point would be for 

determining the value of food aid, technical assistance or assets in the recipient economy e.g. for 

technical assistance – would it be the value of market related services (cheapest, most 

expensive, dependant on the level of expertise etc.). 

 

7. Whether the disclosures proposed are appropriate. If the disclosures are considered excessive, 

the IPSASB would welcome input on which disclosures should not be required. The IPSASB 

would also welcome input on any key disclosures that have not been dealt with and should be 

required. 

 

While the suggested disclosure is very extensive and may in places be onerous, it is not 

envisaged that the volume of disclosure will be the same for every entity. As discussed in the 

response to question 3, most entities may not have balance of payments, military finance and 

trade finance assistance which will significantly reduce the volume of information to be disclosed. 

It is potentially only at whole-of-government or central treasury level that the volume may be 

increased. All the information suggested as disclosures are relevant and will assist users in 

making informed decisions. Regarding the illustrative disclosures in the appendices, these are 

very elaborate and may be better presented in a more condensed format. A suggestion has been 

included on page 10 of the document, which may serve as an illustration.  

 

Entities may not be in a position to report all the required information immediately (despite the 

transitional provision). It may take a significant amount of time to gather the requisite information, 

capture the data onto the reporting or financial systems, and make adjustments to IT systems 

(e.g. structuring of accounts and reports to collect the information in the manner required by the 

Standard). 

 

8.  Whether the proposal in paragraph 54: 

(a) For a transition period of two years is sufficient to apply this Standard. Is a longer transitional 

period necessary to ensure that the appropriate authorities in each recipient country are able to 

access the data necessary to properly account for external assistance? 

(b) To exempt the requirement to disclose comparative figures during the first year of application 

of this Standard is appropriate. 
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(a) We believe that relief is required so that entities are afforded sufficient time to gather the 

appropriate information for disclosure purposes. A longer transitional provision may be 

required, perhaps between 3 and 5 years, in the light of the extensive information gathering 

process required. The transitional provision may need to be extended beyond just the 

disclosure of undrawn assistance, to include items such as the repayment schedules (for 

example).  

Another alternative would be to delay the effective date of the Standard so as to ensure that 

entities are able to prepare sufficiently for the implementation of the Standard, which would then 

make the two year transitional provision appropriate.  

 

(b) We support the exemption from disclosing comparative figures, as this will create undue 

burden on entities, as well as this provision being consistent with those in the accrual based 

IPSASs. 

 
The Standard is supported, and we are of the opinion that it will provide users with useful and relevant 
information about the level and types of assistance received. 
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PART B – GENERAL COMMENTS 
 

1. IASB Improvements project 
 

In the March 2004 meeting of the then PSC, certain decisions were taken regarding the harmonization 

of the IPSAS with the IFRSs/IASs, namely: 

• Adopting the equal authority doctrine going forward,  

• Using the term ‘shall’ instead of ‘should’,  

• Changing appendices to implementation guides where appropriate, and 

• Changes under the IASB’s General Improvements Project would be incorporated into the relevant 

11 IPSASs.  

 

The basis for conclusions developed by the IASB for each IAS/IFRS would not be replicated for the 

existing IPASASs, although the issue of the impairment of non-cash generating assets would set a 

precedent for the inclusion of a basis for conclusion in future IPSASs.  

 

It was decided that the impact on the existing cash generating IPSAS would be monitored by the PSC.  

 

In drafting this Standard, decisions on harmonization have not been applied consistently, in that some 

improvements have been included, while others have not. While we support the view that all new 

IPSASs issued should be aligned to the IASB improvements, if the IPSASB chooses to harmonise this 

Standard with the Improvements Project, this should be applied consistently and completely. The 

discussions that follow illustrate this point. 

 

Change of wording from should to shall 

In drafting this Standard, the wording ‘shall’ has been used which is consistent with the IASB 

improvements project. We concur with this change. 

 

Equal authority paragraph 

The equal authority paragraph has not been drafted and positioned akin to the revised IPSASs, but 
includes the paragraph pre-improvements project, and is positioned in the body of the Standard. This is 
in conflict with the decision taken in the March 2004 meeting to harmonise new IPSASs. The revised 
accrual based IPSASs have reflected this change, and we suggest the same for the cash basis IPSAS 
as well as this Standard. 
 
If this paragraph is included, it should clearly indicate that the Basis for Conclusions in appendix 4 

should be read in conjunction with the Standard.(See issue 2 under Part B for further comment) 

 

Revised definitions   

The definitions incorporated into the revised IPSAS 4 in the March 2005 meeting have not been 

incorporated into this Standard. The definitions affected are: 

• Exchange difference, 

• Exchange rate, 

• Foreign currency, and 
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• Reporting currency. 

Users of financial statements may find the conflicting definitions (i.e. between this Standard and the 

accrual based IPSASs) confusing. We propose that the definitions in this Standard, along with those in 

the Cash Basis IPSAS,  are aligned with the improvements.  

 

Basis for conclusions 

The inclusion of a Basis for Conclusions is also aligned with the IASB improvements, and is in line with 

the decision taken at the March 2004 meeting that the issue of ‘Impairment of Non-Cash Generating 

Assets’ set a precedent for the issue of a ‘Basis for Conclusions’ section. We concur with this 

inclusion. 

 

2. Appendix 3 
 

The commentary included under the heading ‘Appendix 3: Rescheduled or cancelled debt’ does not 
indicate whether or not this appendix forms an integral part of the Standard or not. If it does, then a 
heading should be included along those lines, and the equal authority paragraph should be adjusted to 
clarify that the Standard is contained in paragraphs x to xx, and appendix 3. If the other appendices, 
namely 1 and 2 are merely illustrative, should they not then be renamed to ‘Guidance on Implementing 
IPSAS XXX’, and wording similar to that contained in the revised IPSAS 1, 3, 6, and 16 should be 
inserted below the heading (i.e. The guidance accompanies but does not form part of ….). 
 

3. Objective of the Standard 
 

The ‘Objective’ paragraph currently reads as follows: 

‘The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the disclosures recipients of external assistance are to 

make about external assistance provided during the reporting in the general purpose financial 

statements prepared in accordance with the Cash Basis IPSAS.’ 

 

The purpose of the Standard is to make certain disclosures about external assistance received. With 

this in mind, it may be more appropriate to substitute the word ‘provided’ with ‘received’.  

 

Over and above this, the sentence does not read easily. A suggested redraft is as follows: 

‘The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the disclosures recipients of external assistance are to 

make about the external assistance received during a reporting period when general purpose financial 

statements are prepared in accordance with the Cash Basis IPSAS.’ 

 

4. Definitions 
 

Official assistance 

It is unclear how NGO’s are scoped out of the Standard based on the definition of external assistance. 

If the definition of ‘official resources’ is examined there are two aspects that may result in the exclusion 

of NGO’s. Firstly, there must be a binding arrangement which may exclude certain assistance by 

NGO’s, as this type of arrangement may not be practical given the nature of the assistance certain 

NGO’s provide.  Secondly, the definition of bilateral agencies may also scope out certain NGO’s in that 
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they may not be established under a national law, regulation of other authority. Would the regulation of 

these types of entities qualify under the definition of ‘regulation or authority’? For example does 

OXFAM fall under a bilateral agency because they are accountable to the Charity Commission? 

Perhaps this needs clarification or additional guidance (for both bilateral and multilateral).  

 
Economic entity 

In line with the IASB, only new or other significant definitions will be included in an individual Standard.  

 

Definitions which have been defined in the cash basis IPSAS, such as exchange rate, exchange 

difference, reporting currency, and foreign currency have been repeated in this Standard as they are 

significant in the understanding of the principles it contains. ‘Economic entity’ is defined in the Cash 

Basis IPSAS, but has not been repeated in this Standard, even though paragraph 14 (a) and (b) 

include references to ‘economic entity’. We propose that the definition of an ‘economic entity’ be 

included in this Standard. 

 

Non-government organizations (NGO’s) 

The current definition is as follows: ‘NGO’s are all foreign and national agencies established 

independent of control by any government….’ The word ‘national’ has been used in the definition of 

‘Government’, and has the opposite intended meaning in this sentence as NGO’s are independent of 

government (the word ‘national’ may now have a government connotation to it). A suggested 

alternative to ‘national’ is perhaps ‘domestic’. 

 

Assigned and re-lent external assistance 

 The difference between assigned and re-lent external assistance is not clear from reading the 

definitions or the remainder of the Standard. Perhaps elaborate on the differences in the section 

dealing with definitions i.e. does assigned external assistance not deal at all with loans (currently it 

may fall under ‘other’)? 

 
5. Paragraph 10  
 

‘Payments to a third party may include payments to an NGO settling in cash an obligation of the entity 

for goods or services provided or to be provided by the NGO.’  

It is unclear what is meant or implied by this sentence. Should readers consider the fact that entities 

may make payments to extinguish their obligations, which should be considered as external 

assistance, or is it that where goods are provided by an NGO (and paid for by another party), this 

should be considered regardless of the fact that certain assistance provided by NGO’s is scoped out of 

the Standard. 
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6. Paragraph 20 and 21 
 

Paragraph 20 

There is some uncertainty around the differences between paragraph 20 and 21 which may need to be 

clearly communicated in the Standard so as to make it understandable to users.  

 

It needs to be clear in paragraph 20 that, the entity who received the assistance is still ultimately 

responsible to the providers of such assistance for the use thereof, and results in the proposed 

treatment. The subsidiary agreement entered into does not remove the obligation from the recipient 

entity, but merely regulates the relationship between the recipient entity and the other entity.  

This would be consistent with the concept of control and requirements for set-off in the Cash Basis 

IPSAS, paragraphs 1.3.13 and 1.3.21 to 1.3.23. 

 

Paragraph 21 

It may make the paragraph easier to understand if it started off saying that entities may administer 

transactions on behalf of other entities, instead of using a scenario similar the previous paragraph. The 

way the paragraph is currently structured, it is difficult to distinguish why the issue is difference 

between paragraph 20 and 21. In addition to this, there are other considerations in the Cash Basis 

IPSAS that should be applied when assessing reporting on a net or a gross basis, which have not 

been highlighted by the last sentence of the paragraph. 

 

Suggested redraft 

 ‘In certain instances, an entity may administer assistance received, in the form of loans and grants, on 

behalf of another entity. This results in the proceeds, and terms and conditions of the loan or grant 

being passed on to another entity. The provisions of the Cash Basis IPSAS should be applied in 

determining whether to report the receipts and payments on a net or a gross basis.’ 

 

7.  Paragraph 22 – Undrawn external assistance 
Paragraph 22(a) and (b) – These two sentences do not read easily. Suggested rephrasing of 

sentences: 

 

‘Total external assistance received as loans, and for each category of assistance, namely development 

assistance, trade finance, emergency assistance, military assistance, and balance of payments 

assistance:  …..’ The same wording is proposed for (b) except that loans should be substituted for 

grants. 

 

8. Receipt of Goods or Services In-kind - Paragraph 48  
 

In the event of emergency relief being provided, there must be some sort of political (Government) 

intervention to allow the aid agencies or other governments/government agencies into the country to 

provide such relief to the citizens of the affected area. Does this not imply relief being provided to the 

government by external parties? It is a priority of all governments to see to the best interests of its 
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constituents, which is not negated by the fact that another entity may be performing this function on its 

behalf.  

There may however be uncertainty involved in establishing the quantity and value of this type of 

support. It is therefore proposed that the Standard recommend rather than require, and to the extent 

that information is available, disclose this type of assistance.  

 

9.  Page 39 – Note 5 
‘Goods in-kind received during the year, have not been recorded in the Statement of Cash Receipts 

and Payments, which reflects only cash received (directly or indirectly) or paid by the Government’. 

 

Is this not an accounting policy issue that should be presented along with the other accounting policies 

and not in the notes to the financial statements? 

 

10.  Disclosure of restrictions per category (page 32 to 35) 
The disclosure suggested in the appendix for this particular area makes the overall disclosure very 

lengthy.  A proposed alternative is as follows: 
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  Loans Grants Total 

  Unrestricted Restricted Sub-total Unrestricted Restricted Sub-total  

Development assistance         

Trade finance         

Military assistance         

Balance of payments assistance         

Total         

 

Restricted loans and grants can be further classified according to their restrictions:  

 

  Loans Grants 

  General Procurement Sub-total General Procurement Sub-total 

Development assistance        

Trade finance        

Military assistance        

Balance of payments assistance        

Total        

 

 Narrative description of each type of condition, whether or not they were adhered to etc. 
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PART C - EDITORIAL COMMENTS 
 

Paragraph 51 – ‘Separate disclosure of the restructuring arrangements, including the amount of 

external assistance debt rescheduled, cancelled or partly re-scheduled cancelled, will be ….’ 

The second cancelled should be deleted. 

 

Appendix 1 – page 30 – ‘Undrawn external assistance grants consist of the amount of external 

assistance grants agreed with external assistance agencies that has not been utilized….’ This 

should be replaced with have. 

 

Page 36 – Note 4 - ‘All development assistance debt are denominated…’ This word should be 
replaced with ‘is’. 
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National Audit Office 
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road 
Victoria 
London  SW1W 9SP 

 
Telephone +44 (0)20 7798 7596 
Facsimile   +44 (0)20 7798 7948 
Email        mary.radford@nao.gsi.gov.uk 

    
The Technical Director Our Ref: MR/D75100 
International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board        Date:  14/06/05 
545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor  
New York  
NY10017  
USA  

  
  
Dear Sir  

EXPOSURE DRAFT 24: FINANCIAL REPORTING UNDER THE CASH 
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR 
RECIPIENTS OF EXTERNAL ASSISTANCE 

 

  

The UK National Audit Office (NAO) welcomes the opportunity to comment on the proposals 
containing in Exposure Draft (ED) 24. The UK NAO is the external auditor of all UK Central 
Government departments including the UK Department for International Development (DFID).  
DFID provides external aid in the form of grants to a range of bodies including Governments, 
Multilateral Organisations (such as the United Nations and associated bodies) and Non-
Governmental Organisations (NGOs) around the world.  Some of these bodies may prepare 
Financial Statements on the cash basis of accounting and the proposed requirements of 
Exposure Draft (ED) 24: Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of External Aid may therefore be 
applicable to these bodies if the ED becomes a standard. 

In undertaking the audit of DFID’s financial statements, the NAO are required to confirm that 
grants paid by DFID have been properly accounted for by the recipients and that the recipients 
have used the grants in accordance with any grant conditions attached to them.  The NAO have, 
over recent years, visited a number of countries and some 30 NGOs to follow DFID development 
grants and assess the accounting for grants by recipients.     

The NAO therefore have an interest in ensuring that aid grants received by bodies are 
appropriately disclosed in the recipients’ financial statements.  The following observations on ED 
24 have therefore been prepared by the NAO from the perspective of a user of the financial 
statements. We have set out our overall comments in this letter and our detailed comments on 
the specific matters referred for comment in the attached annex. 

Overall comments 

It is important that disclosure requirements placed upon bodies receiving external assistance are 
proportionate to the needs of the users of the financial statements.  In some countries in receipt of 
aid grants from DFID the accounting and auditing regimes are relatively less developed. And the 
accounting and audit arrangements of many NGOs in developing countries would not meet the 
standards set, for example, by the UK Statement of Recommended Practice for Charities (the 
Charities SORP). It is therefore appropriate that the IPSASB should be seen to develop standards 
for financial reporting, and the NAO endorses the need for a standard covering the reporting of 
grants received. 

At the same time, however, it is important that standards are capable of being implemented by 
those who will be required to do so, and are not unduly onerous to implement.  Whilst the current 
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ED could be viewed as setting the “gold” standard for accounting and disclosure, it needs to be 
practical in its application to bodies whose accounting and reporting systems may not be 
sufficient to support the high standards implicit in the ED. The NAO is not convinced that the 
current ED provides sufficient advice for bodies that will not, for whatever reason, be able to meet 
the standard proposed.  It appears to the NAO that there needs to be clearer guidance to the 
users of the ED as to what information is essential in all circumstances, and what is additional 
good practice. 

A further major issue to consider on this topic is what part the donors themselves might play in 
bringing their requirements for financial reporting and accounting onto a cohesive and consistent 
basis. We are aware for example of the work of the OECD Development Assistance Committee in 
this area and actions taken by donors to harmonise the requirements that they attach to their 
grants. We believe that it is vitally important for the success of the IPSASB work for there to be a 
commonality of purpose as between the standard setter and the preparers and users of financial 
statements. Bringing about improvements in financial reporting in recipient country accounts is 
likely to require the investment of scarce resource and such countries are more likely to be willing 
to do this if they can see evidence of such common purpose. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 
Mary Radford 
DIRECTOR 
Financial Audit Policy 
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EXPOSURE DRAFT 24 – DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR RECIPIENTS OF EXTERNAL 
ASSISTANCE 
UK NAO RESPONSES TO THE SPECIFIC MATTERS FOR COMMENT 

1. Whether the proposed definition of “external assistance” in paragraph 5 is sufficiently 
broad to encompass all official resources received. 
Yes, but see our further comments about “in kind” assistance under item 6. 

2. Whether other sources of assistance such as assistance provided by non-governmental 
organisations (NGOs) should also be included in the definition of “external assistance”. 
Currently the Exposure Draft requires that entities disclose all official resources received. 
Official resources as defined in paragraph 5 would exclude certain assistance received 
from NGOs. 
We do not believe that at present such assistance should be included in the definition of “external 
assistance”. There is a wide range of NGOs and the national NGOs in developing countries in 
particular do not always have sufficiently sophisticated accounting, financial reporting and 
auditing arrangements to support the level of data and disclosure that would be required, nor 
necessarily to make use of the information in recipient country accounts.  

3. Whether the Exposure Draft should specify the categories of external assistance as 
required in paragraphs 13-15 or only require the disclosure of external assistance by 
“major classes” without further specification. 
From the perspective of a user of accounts prepared on a cash basis, we consider that the key 
areas for disclosure are: 

• External assistance received, analysed preferably by donor; 

• Loans received analysed preferably by lender; 

• Interest and principal repayments of loans analysed by lender. 

This information is essential is so that the donors can track all amounts paid to the recipient and 
ensure that they have been received and accounted for.  For loan repayments, the disclosures 
ensure that donors receive all amounts remitted by the borrower.  These disclosures represent a 
strong detective control over fraud.  

Because the donors need to be able to track the receipt of assistance they have paid, it is 
important that external assistance received is analysed by donor and not amalgamated with other 
donors.  This type of analysis could usefully be included as a note to the financial statements. 
Where there are multiple grant agreements with a single donor, the donor will usually require a 
reconciliation between the various grants paid and the total shown as received.  This 
reconciliation should be prepared as part of the accounting package, but is not essential for it to 
be part of the disclosure in the formal financial statements. 

4. The proposal to disclose the balance of, and changes in, undrawn external assistance 
during the period (paragraph 22). 
We can understand how information of this nature might be useful to users of the financial 
statements of recipient countries but we would question the proposed level of detail. We would 
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again refer to the fact that the proposed standard is aimed at entities preparing accounts on a 
cash basis. While some indication of the “facilities” available to the entity by way of undrawn 
assistance might be useful the nature of the disclosure suggested appears to be more 
appropriate to an entity that has adopted the accrual basis of accounting. 

5. The proposal to disclose the terms and conditions of external assistance agreements as 
required by paragraphs 26-28 and any non-compliance thereof (paragraph 36). 
Again we can understand how some summary information of this type might be useful to general 
users of the financial statements, such as the fact that there are conditions that might limit the use 
of or lead to the suspension of assistance. We do not think however that the proposed level of 
detail is appropriate nor that it will actually be that helpful to donors or potential donors, who we 
assume will be amongst the major users of the financial statements.  

Donors and lenders who are considering providing grants and loans are likely to seek direct 
knowledge of the terms of the terms and conditions of existing external assistance. Additional 
disclosure by the recipient in the financial statements, is not essential for their purposes and we 
are unsure which other class of user might benefit from the proposal.  And in many recipient 
countries’, the inclusion of this information in the annual financial statements will add unduly to 
the volume of information presented as well as potentially providing an onerous increase in the 
scope of responsibilities for both preparers and auditors of the financial statements. 

6. Whether the proposals in paragraph 44 as noted below are appropriate: 
 a) to disclose the fair value of non-cash goods-in-kind; and 

b) that fair value should be based on the prices of equivalent goods or services in 
the recipient country. 

We can understand that for many recipient countries the fair value equivalent, however 
established, of such goods could be significant. However, as the financial statements in question 
are meant to be prepared on a cash basis we are dubious as to the merits of this proposal. The 
nature and limitations of the cash basis of accounting should be clear to users and we wonder 
whether such attempts to expand the scope of the accounts towards a more “full-cost” basis of 
accounting will only serve to confuse users. At an earlier stage in the IPSASB standards project 
we believe it was clear that respondents did not really support mixed models of accounting in that 
cash and accrual were the only two bases recognised generally. We continue to support this 
view. 

7. Whether the disclosures proposed are appropriate. If the disclosures are considered 
excessive, the IPSASB would welcome input on which disclosures should not be required. 
The IPSASB would also welcome input on any key disclosures that have not been dealt 
with and should be required. 
We do not support all of the proposed disclosures for the reasons noted. In essence annual 
financial statements should not be viewed as a universal document for disclosing financial health: 
in particular the purpose of financial statements prepared on a cash basis is to report transactions 
in the year. Additional information such as that relating to terms and conditions, guarantees, 
balances available, outstanding debts, debt rescheduling are all pertinent financial data for 
countries in receipt of external assistance, but we do not believe that they should be required 
disclosures in a set of cash based financial statements. Some or all of them might be encouraged 
by way of voluntary additional information but for the purposes of consistency, comparability and 
to ensure the audit remit is also clear such voluntary disclosures might be better included in a 
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statement accompanying the financial statements somewhat akin to the Operating and Financial 
Review or similar statements produced by the publicly traded entities in many jurisdictions.  

8. Whether the proposal in paragraph 54: 
a) For a transition period of two years is sufficient to apply this Standard. Is a 
longer transition period necessary to ensure the appropriate authorities in each 
recipient country are able to access the date necessary to properly account for 
external assistance? 
Based on our responses above, if the exposure draft is approved as it stands we would 
anticipate that most of the recipient countries that we have had contact with would require 
more than two years to make the transition in respect of most of the proposed disclosures 
including those relating to the balance on undrawn assistance.  

b) To exempt the requirement to disclose comparative figures during the first year 
of application of the Standard is appropriate. 
We would support this exemption. 

RESPONSES TO ED 24 PAGE 14.34



RESPONSES TO ED 24 PAGE 14.35



 
                                                               
 
 

FAR is the institute for the accountancy profession in Sweden 

Mail: Box 6417, S-113 82 Stockholm, Sweden   Visitors: Norrtullsgatan 6, Stockholm  
Telephone: +46 8 506 112 00   Fax: +46 8 34 14 61   E-mail: sekr@far.se   Website: www.far.se  VAT: SE556081797401 

Member of the International Federation of Accountants, Fédération des Experts Comptables Européens and the Nordic Federation of Public 
Accountants 

IFAC     15 June 2005 
545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor, 
New York 
NY 10017, USA 
 
 
 
ED 24 – Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of Accounting – 
Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of External Assistance 
 
FAR, the Institute for the Accountancy Profession in Sweden has been given the opportunity 
of commenting on an exposure draft concerning Disclosure Requirements for public sector 
entities which are Recipients of External Assistance and uses the cash basis of accounting. 
 
FAR realizes that it may be important for some entities to receive further guidance in cash 
reporting. However, the main task for IPSASB should be to further promote the acceptance 
in general of the use of accrual accounting.  
 
ED 24 covers an area that is much broader than cash accounting itself. It also deals with 
potential cash flow. These matters might be handled in a cash flow analysis within the 
existing framework of accrual accounting. There is a risk that cash basis will not only consist 
of its pure elements but also of other elements closer to potential cash or modified accrual. In 
such a case, the nature of standards for cash accounting will create confusion and will 
actively hinder the adoption of “pure” accrual accounting standards. 
 
Generally speaking, the matter of further developing cash based standards also highlights 
issues regarding the audit of accounts. It is vital that, when developing cash based standards, 
the proper adherence to the standards is monitored by an audit reporting, carried out 
according to best practice, to ensure full transparency. 
 
Specific Matters for Comment 
 
1. Yes. It is essential that it is clearly pointed out who is responsible for the categorization 

of the art of external assistance. 
 
2. All assistance should be included when certain criteria are met, regardless of the type of 

donor. 
 
3. We are satisfied with the definitions given in paragraph 5, but we find it necessary that 

the definitions also point out that when categorizing external assistance into “Other 
assistance” there must be a declaration from the donor or from the recipient regarding the 
actual conditions. This declaration should be disclosed in the financial statements. An 
example would be most helpful. 

 
4. This is a good proposal, and will promote the important issue of transparency. 
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5. We fully approve. 
 
6. We fully approve. 
 
7. We do not think the requirements are excessive.   
 
8. Two years should be a sufficient period in terms of the accounting problem. It is the 

responsibility of the auditor to report whether or not the entity has succeeded in 
complying with the accounting principles, disclosed in the financial statements. 

 
 
 
FAR 
 
 
 
Gunilla Werner Carlsson 
Chairman, Public Sector Reference Group  
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15 June 2005 
 
 
The Technical Director 
International Public Sector Accounting 
 Standards Board 
545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor 
New York, New York 10017 
United States of America 
 
Email: publicsectorpubs@ifac.org 
 
 
Dear Sir 
 
SAICA SUBMISSION ON EXPOSURE DRAFT 24 – FINANCIAL REPORTING 
UNDER THE CASH BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 
FOR RECIPIENTS OF EXTERNAL ASSISTANCE  
 
In response to your request for comments on Exposure Draft 24 – Financial Reporting 
Under the Cash Basis of Accounting – Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of 
External Assistance, issued by the International Federation of Accountants’ International 
Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB), attached please find the comment 
letter prepared by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA). 
 
We would like to thank you for the opportunity to provide comments on the document.   
 
Please do not hesitate to contact me should you wish to discuss any of our comments. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
Patrick Maranya 
Project Director – Public Sector 
 
cc: Roy Harichunder (Chairperson of the Public Sector Committee) 
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GENERAL COMMENTS 

Overall, we support Exposure Draft 24 – Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of 
External Assistance, as it provides guidance to entities on how such entities should 
disclose information relating to external assistance. The guidance will ensure that there is 
consistent and comparable information provided by all recipient of external assistance. In 
addition, the disclosures will provide users of financial statements of such entities with 
useful information to understand the level of reliance and assistance available to the 
entity. 

We are in agreement with the principles in the exposure draft. However, we have noted 
some areas where more guidance, clarification or amendments are required in order to 
enhance the disclosure of the information required in the proposed standard and have 
included our comments in this regard. 

In addition, even though we consider the disclosures to be necessary and appropriate, the 
practical implementation will be onerous. This may have a major impact on developing 
nations which are main recipients of external assistance. 
 
SPECIFIC COMMENTS 
 
Question 1 
 
Whether the proposed definition of “external assistance” in paragraph 5 is sufficiently 
broad to encompass all official resources received.  
 
We agree that the definition is sufficient. However, consideration should be made on the 
following issues. 
 
• The current definition states that “official resources means all loans, grants, technical 

assistance, guarantees or other assistance provided or committed …”. We 
recommend that, other than being specific on the types, it would be more appropriate 
if the definition included the types as examples. The preparers of financial statements 
may struggle to classify other types of resources received that are not listed in the 
definition.  

 
• The examples should also include ‘goods or services in-kind’ which have been 

covered in detail in the exposure draft. In addition, it is important to expand or 
explain the term ‘technical assistance’, e.g. by providing examples. We are of the 
view that such assistance would fall within ‘services in-kind’. We recommend that 
mention be made of technical assistance in the section dealing with ‘goods or services 
in-kind’. 

 
• It would be appropriate to expand the introductory notes to explain the fact that 

external assistance as required to be repaid in some instances, e.g. loans, whilst in 
others repayment would only be required if terms and conditions are not met, e.g. 
grants. 
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Question 2 
 
Whether other sources of assistance, such as assistance provided by non-governmental 
organisations (NGOs), should also be included in the definition of “external assistance”.  
Currently, the Exposure Draft requires that entities disclose all official resources 
received.  Official resources as defined in paragraph 5 would exclude certain assistance 
received from NGOs. 
 
We support the inclusion of assistance provided by non-governmental organisations in 
the definition of ‘external assistance’. It will ensure that disclosure in the financial 
statements include all the assistance that entities receive. 
 
Such disclosures will provide users of the financial statements with holistic, adequate and 
complete information of the total amount of assistance received, used and available for 
the entity; which is important for the assessment of its going concern. It enables the users 
to know the level of dependence of assistance by the entity. The exclusion of NGO 
assistance would limit the amount of information available to users of financial 
statements prepared on cash basis of accounting. 
 
We recommend that an extension be made to address assistance provided or committed 
under binding agreements by other entities besides the government, bilateral and 
multilateral agencies, e.g. a private entity providing assistance to public sector entity. 
 
Question 3 
 
Whether the Exposure Draft should specify the categories of external assistance as 
required in paragraphs 13-15 or only require the disclosure of external assistance by 
“major classes” without further specification. 
 
We support the proposal in the exposure draft to specify the categories of external 
assistance as required by paragraphs 13-15. This would enable the users to understand the 
purposes in which the assistance was provided. 
 
Paragraph 13-15 require such information be disclosed separately, either on the face of 
the statement of cash receipts and payments or in the notes to the financial statements. 
We recommend that disclosure of external assistance by category be required only in the 
notes to financial statements. The disclosure on the face of statement of cash receipt and 
payments may be onerous and extensive, as some entities may have received many types 
of external assistance. 
 
Paragraph 15 requires disclosure of providers of external assistance by major classes 
when there is more that one provider. We would recommend that there be a requirement 
to disclose the names of each provider by a way of a note in the financial statements. The 
information would enable the users to understand the names and the amount of assistance 
provided by each provider to the entity. It would also promote transparency which is a 
good reflection to the donors 
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Question 4 
 
The proposal to disclose the balance of, and changes in, undrawn external assistance 
during the period (paragraph 22). 
 
Agreed, such information is important to users of financial statements. It would enable 
the users to note the availability and accessibility of funds and going concern of the 
entity. 
 
Question 5 
 
The proposal to disclose the terms and conditions of external assistance agreements as 
required by paragraphs 26-28 and any non-compliance thereof (paragraph 36). 
 
We agree with the proposal. 
 
However, we propose that a requirement be included in paragraph 36 for entities to 
disclose the reasons for non-compliance in the financial statements. 
 
Question 6 
 
Whether the proposals in paragraph 44 as noted below are appropriate: 
 
(a) To disclose the fair value of non-cash goods-in-kind; and 
(b) That fair value should be based on the prices of equivalent goods or services in the 

recipient country. 
 
The proposals are appropriate. The principle is in line with the proposed approach for 
measuring goods or services received in-kind, in the IPSASB project on revenue from 
non-exchange transactions. 
 
We would recommend inclusion of an option not to disclose fair values if its’ 
determination is impractical. Establishing fair values may be a challenge that many 
entities would likely face. The exposure draft should require disclosure where this option 
is applied. 
 
In addition, consideration should be made to include guidance, in an appendix, on how to 
determine the fair value, e.g. market prices, index etc.  
 
Question 7 
 
Whether the disclosures proposed are appropriate.  If the disclosures are considered 
excessive, the IPSASB would welcome input on which disclosures should not be required.  
The IPSASB would also welcome input on any key disclosures that have not been dealt 
with and should be required. 
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Other than those proposed in our responses, we consider the disclosures to be adequate. 
 
Question 8 
 
Whether the proposal in paragraph 54: 
 
(a) For a transition period of two years is sufficient to apply this Standard.  Is a longer 

transition period necessary to ensure that the appropriate authorities in each 
recipient country are able to access the data necessary to properly account for 
external assistance? 

(b) To exempt the requirements to disclose comparative figures during the first year of 
application of this Standard is appropriate. 

 
The proposed transition period is reasonable as some entities will require time to compile 
the information. It is correct to state that there will be practical challenges in many 
entities to source and collate the information required by the exposure draft, hence the 
need for the two year period.  However, the Board should consider encouraging early 
disclosure of the information, if available. 
 
OTHER COMMENTS 
 
Definition of foreign currency 
 
The term ‘reporting currency’ is used in many of the definitions in the exposure draft. 
Considering that the IPSAB is undertaking a project to amend 11 IPSASs including 
IPSAS 4 – The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, to incorporate the 
amendments of the improvement project of the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), we recommend that the term ‘reporting currency’ be aligned with the proposed 
amendment in this standard. All affected definitions should also be amended. 
 
Definition of economic entity 
 
Paragraph 11 makes reference to the term ‘economic entity’. We recommend including a 
definition of the term in the exposure draft to be consistent with cash based standard 
where the term is defined. 
 
Appendix 1 
 
Consolidated Cash Receipt and Payments  
 
The disclosure of external assistance should be expanded to include NGOs and other 
providers, as proposed in the comments on Question 2 above. 
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Note 1 – External Assistance 
 
Providers of borrowed funds and grant funds should disclose funds from NGOs and other 
providers, as proposed in the comments on Question 2 above. 
 
As proposed in the comments on Question 3, a note should be disclosed, listing by name 
each provider of finance and the amounts of assistance granted. 
 
Note 2 – Undrawn External Assistance 
 
To be in line with the disclosure requirements in paragraphs 22 relating to movement of 
undrawn external assistance, we propose the change of the term in the note 2 “external 
assistance received” to “external assistance drawn or utilised”, which should be a 
reduction.  
 
We also recommend disclosure of the closing amount of undrawn external assistance, 
both by reporting (local) currency and foreign currency. Exchange rates used should be 
disclosed in the accounting policies section of the financial statements. 
 
#93850 
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P O Box 73510 

Lynnwood Ridge 
0040 

Tel. 012 348 2913 
Fax. 012 348 4150 

 

Board Members:  Mrs M Brown, Mr R Cottrell (Chairperson), Ms B Hogan, 
Mr S Kana, Dr L Konar, Mr I A Mamoojee, Mr M J N J Njeke, Mr T Nombembe, Mr I Sehoole  

Chief Executive Officer: Ms E L Swart 

 

 
The Technical Director  
Public Sector Committee 
545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor 
New York 
United States of America  
 
Email: EDComments@ifac.org 
Fax: +1 (212) 286-9570  
 
14 June 2005  
 
Dear Paul 
CASH BASIS IPSAS: FINANCIAL REPORTING UNDER THE CASH BASIS OF 
ACCOUNTING – DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR RECIPIENTS OF EXTERNAL 
ASSISTANCE  
In response to your request for comments on ED24 - Disclosure Requirements for Recipients 
of External Assistance, attached please find the comment letter prepared by the Accounting 
Standards Board. The Accounting Standards Board is the official accounting standard setter 
for the public sector in South Africa. In preparing the comment letter we consulted widely within 
the public sector in South Africa. 
We would like to thank you for the opportunity to provide comments on this document. In 
addition to our response to the questions raised, we have also included general comments on 
aspects not specifically dealt with in the questions. 
Please do not hesitate to contact us should you wish to discuss any of our comments. 
Yours sincerely 

 
Erna Swart  
Chief Executive Officer 
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COMMENTS ON SPECIFIC MATTERS 
Question 1 
Whether the proposed definition of “external assistance” in paragraph 5 is sufficiently broad to 
encompass all official resources received. 
“Official resources” as used in the definition of “external assistance” means loans, grants, 
technical assistance, guarantees, or other assistance provided. It is not clear from the 
guidance provided in the proposed Standard why the definition of “official resources” refers to 
“technical services” when guidance is only provided on the accounting of “goods or services in- 
kind” (paragraph .44). We recommend that the Standard should clarify whether “goods or 
services in-kind” is a component of “technical services”, and/or whether “goods or services in-
kind” is a component of “official resources”.  
Furthermore, we recommend that “assigned” as used in the definition of “assigned external 
assistance” should be explained and clarified as the meaning of “assigned” can differ, 
depending on how external assistance is paid to the recipient. 
Question 2 
Whether other sources of assistance, such as assistance provided by non-governmental 
organizations (NGOs), should also be included in the definition of “external assistance”. 
Currently, the Exposure Draft requires that entities disclose all official resources received. 
Official resources as defined in paragraph 5 would exclude certain assistance received from 
NGOs. 
BC 7 states that the initial scope of the project was widened to address all official external 
assistance and require the disclosure of all major components of external assistance. We are 
of the view that if disclosure of external assistance received from NGOs is not required by this 
Standard, it might result in some entities not disclosing a significant amount of external 
assistance received in the Statement of Cash Receipts and Payments. We therefore 
recommend that the Standard should require the disclosure of external assistance received 
from NGOs.  
Question 3 
Whether the Exposure Draft should specify the categories of external assistance as required in 
paragraphs 13-15 or only require the disclosure of external assistance by “major classes” 
without further specification. 
We agree that the Standard should specify the categories of external assistance as required in 
paragraphs .13 and .14 as these catergories will indicate the purpose for which the external 
assistance was received and will also indicate the amount of external assistance provided for 
each category.  
To avoid showing too much information on the face of the Statement of Cash Receipts and 
Payments, we recommend that the Standard should require the sub-classification of external 
assistance received and external assistance paid by third parties as a note to the Statement of 
Cash Receipts and Payments. A single line item should be included on the face of the 
Statement of Cash Receipts and Payments for external assistance received and external 
assistance paid by third parties.  
We recommend that the Standard should not require the disclosure of both categories of 
external assistance (paragraph .13 and .14) and the major classes of providers of external 
assistance (paragraph .15) as this will result in too much information being disclosed in the 
Statement of Cash Receipts and Payments. We are of the view that the disclosure of the 
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categories of external assistance will be more useful to the majority of users of the financial 
statements, and therefore recommend that the disclosure information required by paragraph 
.15 should be deleted.  
Question 4 
The proposal to disclose the balance of, and changes in, undrawn external assistance during 
the period (paragraph 22). 
We agree with the disclosure requirements that require the disclosure of the balance and 
changes in undrawn external loans and grants as required by paragraph .22, as the disclosure 
will provide useful information to the users on the extent to which assistance is available in the 
future to assist the entity in meeting its future operations and financial responsibilities.  
Question 5 
The proposal to disclose the terms and conditions of external assistance agreements as 
required by paragraphs 26-28 and any non-compliance thereof (paragraph 36). 
We agree with the requirements in paragraphs .26 and .27 to disclose the terms and 
conditions of external assistance agreements (paragraph .26) and the terms and conditions 
that apply throughout the life of the external assistance agreement (paragraph .27 first part) as 
it will provide useful information to the users of the financial statements on the extent to which 
external assistance is time bound and under what circumstances the external assistance will 
be made available to entities.  
We also agree with the requirement in paragraphs .36 to disclose the non-compliance with the 
terms and conditions of the external assistance agreements as this will indicate whether or not 
the entity will continuously receive external assistance, whether penalties for non-compliance 
were imposed and what other consequences arose as a result of the non-compliance.  
However, the practical implication of disclosing the terms and conditions of external assistance 
agreements as required by paragraph .26 and .27 should be considered as some entities 
might receive external assistance from a number of external providers, which will result in 
onerous disclosure in the financial statements.   
The second part of paragraph .27 requires the disclosure of the consequence of non-
compliance with the terms and conditions of external assistance agreements. Paragraph .36 
also requires an entity to disclose non-compliance with the terms and conditions of external 
assistance agreements when it has occured. We recommend that the disclosures of the 
consequences of non-compliance should be combined with the disclosures regarding default.  
Furthermore, we are uncertain why paragraph .28 allows for the non-disclosure of certain 
balance of payments assistance. We are of the view that the same disclosure requirements as 
required for other external assistance should be required for all balance of payments 
assistance and that consideration be given to include a general exemption on the disclosure of 
sensitive data. This exemption should be applied to all types of external assistance, and not 
only to balance of payments assistance. We therefore recommend that the disclosure 
requirements in paragraph .28 be incorporated in paragraph .26 and .27 as explained.  
Question 6 
Whether the proposals in paragraph 44 as noted below are appropriate: 

(a) To disclose the fair value of non-cash goods-in-kind; and 
We agree with the disclosure of external assistance received in the form of goods or services 
in-kind at fair value as a note to the Statement of Receipts and Payments.  
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However, it should be noted that paragraph .44 to .49 provides guidance on goods and 
services in-kind and not on non-cash goods-in-kind. We are therefore uncertain whether the 
disclosure requirements as stated in paragraph .44 will also be applicable to all non-cash 
goods-in-kind received, or whether it is only applicable to goods and services in-kind. 
As noted in our comments to question 1 above, the definition of “official resources” refers to 
“technical assistance” and it is not clear from the guidance provided in the proposed Standard 
why the definition of “official resources” refers to “technical services” when guidance is only 
provided on the accounting of “goods or services in- kind” (paragraph .44). We recommend 
that the Standard should clarify whether “goods or services in-kind” is a component of 
“technical services”, and/or whether “goods or services in-kind” is a component of “official 
resources”.  

(b) That fair value should be based on the prices of equivalent goods or services in the 
recipient country. 

We agree that fair value should firstly be based on the prices of equivalent goods or services in 
the recipient country, and if this information is not available, that fair value should then be 
based on the prices of goods or services in the world market. However, we are not sure 
whether the entity will be able to determine the fair value of the goods or service by reference 
to the donor’s economy if the recipient country was unable to determine the fair value in the 
world market.  
In addition, we recommend that the Standard should require the following disclosures in 
instances where the recipient entity was not able to determine the fair value of the goods or 
services in-kind:  

 A description of the goods or services-in-kind received; and  
 An explanation of why fair value cannot be determined reliably. 

We further recommend that the Standard should provide more guidance on the practical 
application on how to determine fair value, as this is a new concept and principle for entities 
reporting under the cash basis of accounting. 
Question 7 
Whether the disclosures proposed are appropriate. If the disclosures are considered 
excessive, the IPSASB would welcome input on which disclosures should not be required. The 
IPSASB would also welcome input on any key disclosures that have not been dealt with and 
should be required. 
We are of the view that the current disclosure requirements as required by the proposed 
Standard are too onerous and that they should be simplified.  
For comments on how the current disclosure requirements should be simplified, and for 
comments on additional disclosures that should be considered, reference should be made to 
our responses to the questions above.  
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Question 8 
Whether the proposal in paragraph 54: 
(a)  For a transition period of two years is sufficient to apply this Standard. Is a longer 

transitional period necessary to ensure that the appropriate authorities in each recipient 
country are able to access the data necessary to properly account for external 
assistance? 

We are of the view that the relief provided will be sufficient for entities to gather the appropriate 
information for disclosure purposes. 

 
(b)  To exempt the requirement to disclose comparative figures during the first year of 

application of this Standard is appropriate. 
We support the exemption from disclosing comparative figures during the first year of 
application of this Standard.  
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GENERAL COMMENTS ON ASPECTS NOT SPECIFICALLY DEALT WITH AS SPECIFIC 
QUESTIONS 
Objective  
The objective paragraph should be amended to require the disclosure of external assistance 
received and not external assistance provided by recipient entities.   
Definitions 
In the March 2004 meeting of the then PSC, certain decisions were taken regarding the 
harmonisation of the IPSAS with the IFRSs/IASs. These included using the term “shall” instead 
of “should”, and that changes under the IASB’s General Improvements Project would be 
incorporated into the relevant 11 IPSASs. In drafting this proposed Standard, these decisions 
on harmonisation have not been applied consistently, in that the wording “shall” has not been 
used, which was one of the changes under the IASB improvements project. Furthermore, 
changes to some of the definitions under the improvements project were not incorporated in 
this proposed Standard. Users of the financial statements may find the conflicting definitions 
between this proposed Standard and the accrual based IPSASs confusing, and we therefore 
recommend that the definitions in this proposed Standard, along with those in the Cash Basis 
IPSAS, should be aligned with the definitions in the IASB’s improvements project. 
Furthermore, we recommend that “economic entity” as used in paragraphs .11, .14(a) and 
.14(b) should be defined. 
We also recommend that the word “national” in the definition of “non-governmental 
organisations (NGOs)” be changed to domestic”.  
We further recommend that “agencies” be incorporated in the definition of “government”.  
Emergency assistance 
We are of the view that emergency assistance might be difficult to quantify if a written 
agreement does not exist between the donor and the recipient entity. We agree with the 
disclosure requirements in paragraph .14 but recommend that the Standard should further 
require the disclosure of emergency assistance received in-kind as a note to the Statement of 
Cash Receipts and Payments. If the recipient entity is not able to quantify the emergency 
assistance received because a written agreement was not drawn up between the recipient 
entity and the donor entity, the Standard should still require the disclosure of the emergency 
assistance, with the reason as to why the amount of the emergency assistance could not be 
quantified.  
Foreign exchange transactions 
We are of the view that paragraph .19 establishes a principle that should be recorded as a bold 
italic paragraph. The guidance in paragraph .25 should then be used to explain the principle 
set in the bold italic paragraph. 
Furthermore, paragraph .25 states that the opening and closing balance will be determined by 
applying to the foreign currency amount, the exchange rate on the respecitive date. We 
recommend that the statement should be amended to require that the closing balance should 
be determined by applying to the foreign currency amount, the exchange rate at the end of the 
reporting date, instead of referring to the respective date.  
Netting of transactions 
Paragraph .21 states that the netting of transactions where the terms and conditions are 
substantially the same, may be appropriate in the financial statements of the administrator in 
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accordance with the provisions of the Cash Basis IPSAS. However, the Cash Basis IPSAS 
refers to “a net basis” which can be interpreted differently from “netting of transactions”. We 
recommend that either the same terminology be used as in the Cash Basis IPSAS, or that 
“netting of transactions” be explained and clarified. Alternatively, if it is intended to mean “off-
set” as defined in IPSAS 1, it should be clarified.  
In addition, there are other considerations in the Cash Basis IPSAS that should be applied 
when assessing reporting on a net or a gross basis. We recommend that these considerations 
are also highlighted in this Standard.  
Disclosure of non-compliance  
Paragraph .36 requires the disclosure of the terms and conditions assosiated with external 
assistance loans, grants or guarantees that have not been complied with. We recommend that 
the reason for the non-compliance, as illustrated in appendix 1 note 3 (page 35) should also be 
required by the Standard. 
Furthermore, paragraph .36 refers to “non-compliance”, but in paragraph .37 where the 
principle of non-compliance is discussed, reference is made to “default”. As non-compliance 
may include default, we recommend that “non-compliance” should be used in paragraph .37.   
We also recommend that in addition to the disclosure of the terms and conditions assosiated 
with external assistance loans, grants or guarantees that have not been complied with, the 
Standard should also require the disclosure of the terms and conditions assosiated with 
technical services that have not been complied with.  
External assistance debt  
The guidance provided in paragraphs .39 to .42 and paragraphs .50 and .51 refers to external 
assistance debt and debt service payments interchangeable with loans. We recommend that 
the Standard should standardise the terminology, or alternatively include a sentence that the 
terms “debt” and “loans” are used interchangeably and have the same meaning.  
Paragraph .13 and .14 
As discussed under the specific comments above, we are of the view that the information 
required by these paragraphs should be included in a note to the Statement of Cash Receipts 
and Payments and not on the face of the Statement of Cash Receipts and Payments. 
Paragraph .15  
As discussed under the specific comments above, we are of the view that the disclosure of the 
categories of external assistance will be more useful to the majority of users of the financial 
statements, and therefore recommend that the disclosure requirements of this paragraph 
should be deleted.  
Paragraph .16 
As with our comments on the disclosures required by paragraph .13 and .14 above, we 
recommend that the disclosure requirements of external assistance received in the form of 
loans and grants as required by this paragraph, should be disclosed as a note to the financial 
statements and not as a disclosure on the face of the Statement of Cash Receipts and 
Payments.  
Paragraph .20  
We recommend that this paragraph be clarified to state that the entity, which received the 
assistance, is still ultimately responsible to the providers of such assistance for the use thereof, 
and that the subsidiary agreement entered into does not remove the obligation from the 
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recipient entity to account for the external assistance received in terms of this Standard. The 
subsidiary agreement merely regulates the relationship between the recipient entity and the 
other entity. This would be consistent with the concept of control and netting requirements of 
the Cash Basis IPSAS, paragraphs 1.3.13 and 1.3.21 to 1.3.23. 
Paragraph .22 
In both paragraph .22(a) and .22(b) “and other assistance” has been omitted.  
We recommend that the Standard should require the disclosure of the interest rate applicable 
to the undrawn external assistance, if different to the rates applicable to the used facilities.  
Paragraph .24 
The guidance provided in this paragraph on the disclosure of non-compliance should rather be 
included as part of the guidance provided under paragraph .36.  
Paragraph .39  
In addition  to the disclosure requirements required under this paragraph, we recommend that 
the Standard should also require the disclosure of external loans, grants and guarantees 
payable within the next financial period.  
Paragraph .46 
In this paragraph, naval vessels are used as an example of equipment that may be transferred 
under an external assistance agreement. Market prices are difficult, if not impossible to 
determine for specialised military equipment and are usually negotiated between the parties. 
Accordingly, we recommend that another more appropriate and relevant example be used.  
Appendix 1 – Note 1 
As we are of the view that external assistance received from NGOs should also be disclosed in 
the financial statements of entities reporting under the cash basis of accounting, the examples 
as included in this annexure should be amended to require disclosure of external assistance 
received from NGOs.  
Appendix 1 - Note 2  
The illustrative example differs from the information required by paragraph .22 and .23, as 
different line items are used in the illustration. For example, paragraph .22(a)(iii) requires the 
disclosure of the total amount drawn or utilised but this is not illustrated in the note disclosure. 
Also, the disclosure note illustration requires the disclosure of external assistance received, 
whereas paragraph 22(a) only requires the disclosure of the amount of new loans approved or 
otherwise made available during the period.  

RESPONSES TO ED 24 PAGE 14.51



June 15, 2005 
 SUGIMOTO Masami, 

 14.3-13  Certified Public Accountant, Japan 

 

Comments on the Exposure Draft 24 
Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of Accounting 

 Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of External Assistance 
 

1. Basic Standpoint 

The primary purpose of the financial disclosure requirement of this accounting standard is the 

fulfillment of the accountability to be carried out by external-aid recipients. However, considering 

considerably weak public financial management prevailing in most of those countries, we have to also 

pay attention to the aspects of improving their weaknesses (improvement aspect) and encouraging the 

willingness to disclose their financial performance (encouragement aspect). In other words, an 

accounting standard for those countries should be prepared in such a way that the standard carries a 

constructive nature to promote their improvement in their public financial management, and it does 

not discourage their willingness for disclosure. 

It is also important for us to base the financial reporting requirement for aid recipients upon the 

concept of their “economic and social development.” 

2. Comments on the “Specific Matters” on Page 4 

(1) Scope of “External Assistance” 

The proposed scope is broad enough to cover major types of external assistance, except the NGO 

assistance (cf. the next section), however the “military assistance” should be removed because of 

the following reasons: 

a. The “military assistance” is definitely a type of external assistance in nature. Especially from 

the viewpoint of the “fund fungibility,” even the military assistance with no direct benefit on 

economic and social development should be counted as “external assistance” from a theoretical 

standpoint. However it will obviously discourage their willingness for disclosure; not only the 

military assistance itself, but it will more or less adversely affect their willingness to disclose 

other financial matters. 

b. The reporting of “military assistance” may be distorted or manipulated with some political 

intentions. 

(2) Inclusion of “NGO Assistance” 

Considering the basic role of the financial reporting of aid recipients to enable every stakeholder 

to financially monitor their behaviors and performance especially in development activities, the 

assistance by NGOs, whose role in development is increasingly important, should not be omitted 
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from the external assistance. However in practice under the condition of poor public financial 

management prevailing in most recipient countries, it is extremely difficult to financially grasp 

assistance of NGOs’ field activities. Improvement of internal aid information systems so as to 

financially capture any assistance received (including NGOs’ assistance) should be sought in the 

framework of the public financial management strengthening. 

(3) Categorization of External Assistance 

(4) Disclosure of “Undrawn External Assistance” 

(5) Disclosure of “Terms and Conditions of External Assistance” 

Though practically difficult under the present conditions in most recipient countries as stated in 

above sections, I agree to the ideas of the Draft on (3) (4) (5) treatments, because those detailed 

information is useful to monitor the recipients’ activities more clearly, and again, those requests can 

provide recipients with explicit guidelines in the efforts to improve their management and 

information systems. 

(6) Fair Value 

(a) I agree to disclose the fair value of non-cash goods-in-kind. The disclosure of all of the 

external assistance received should be required in principle whether it is in cash or non-cash, 

and the valuation with “fair value” accords with the GAAP. However it is necessary to clearly 

explain why non-cash items of assistance, such as goods-in-kind, grants, expert dispatches 

and third-party (offshore) payments, must be counted even under cash-basis accounting in 

order to avoid the recipients’ confusion. 

(b) I agree to use fair value based on domestic prices, because (1) if such assistance had been 

unavailable, the recipients would have tried to procure the equivalents or alternatives 

primarily in the domestic market, and (2) domestic prices are able to be far more easily 

obtained (encouragement aspect) than international or oversea prices. 

(7) Excessive Disclosures 

The “military assistance” should be deleted for the reason described in Section (1) above. 

(8) Paragraph 54 

(a) Under the circumstances of poor public financial management capability in most recipient 

countries stated above, the transitional period of two years is too short in general. But, even if 

it is extended further to, say 5 years, it will make any difference. If the recipients whose 

managerial capability does not allow them to prepare satisfactory financial statements are 

requested (or imposed) to submit perfect statements, their willingness for disclosure will be 
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hampered.  

Taking care of the “encouragement” as well as “improvement” aspects, I recommend fixing 

the transitional period at 2 years, and allow them to submit even imperfect ones but requesting 

the preparers to specify and mention clearly the current defective points involved and 

expected timeframe (years) for upgrading. 

(b) It is appropriate to exempt comparative figures during the first year. 

3. Other Comments 

(1) Elucidation of “Entity” 

The “Scope” section of this Standard defines the requested preparer of the financial statements to 

which this standard is to be applied as the entity that are recipients of external assistance. It means 

that any aid-receiving entity including ministries, departments, agencies, municipal governments, 

state-owned enterprises, parastatals and so forth who directly or indirectly receive external 

assistance are supposed to prepare their own financial statements in accordance with this Standard. 

And then finally those statements are to be consolidated into a national statement to disclose the 

collective result (because a nation itself is also regarded as an aid-receiving entity) at the national 

level.  

To make this Standard more user-friendly, it is better to elucidate the “aid-receiving entity” more 

clearly with examples to give a clear image of the structure above. 

(2) Receipts and Payments 

Major interest in aid recipients’ financial performance from the viewpoint of economic and social 

development is how much external assistance has been received and how it has been used for 

different purposes. This Standard (paragraph 11) also clearly specifies the statement of cash 

receipts and payments as a disclosure requirement. However, the contents of this standard mostly 

deal with the receipts or revenue side with little attention to the payments or expenditure side. In 

practice, the donors’ attention often tends to focus on the usage of fund in the framework of the 

expenditure management whether the fund, both externally assisted and internally generated, has 

been properly used for nationally targeted purposes (for HIPCs–Heavily Indebted Poor Countries, 

purposes set out in PRSP–Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper). 

Taking the requirement above into consideration, the Standard should at least show in its Appendix 

some example formats to cover both receipts (revenue) and payments (expenditure) sides. 
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ACCA is the largest and fastest-growing international accountancy 
body. 
Over 345,000 students and members in 160 countries are served by 
more  
than 70 staffed offices and other centres. 
 
ACCA's mission is to work in the public interest to provide quality 
professional opportunities to people of ability and application, to 
promote the highest ethical and governance standards and to be a 
leader in the development of the accountancy profession. 
 
Further information on ACCA is available on ACCA's website, 
www.accaglobal.com 
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Executive Summary 
 
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) is 
pleased to have this opportunity to comment on the International 
Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB)’s proposed 
International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS), Financial 
Reporting Under the Cash Basis of Accounting – Disclosure 
Requirements for Recipients of External Assistance (the Exposure 
Draft). These comments have been prepared in consultation with 
members of ACCA's Financial Reporting Committee and the ACCA 
Public Sector Technical Issues Panel, a group of experienced 
accountants working in the public sector.  In addition, the input from 
several ACCA members in Africa and Asia has informed this response. 

ACCA commends the IFAC IPSASB for developing this draft standard 
for the cash basis of accounting with the following objectives: 
 

• to increase the comparability and usefulness of the financial 
information to users of the statements 
 
and 
 

• to reduce the costs that recipients of such assistance face in 
complying with the different reporting requirements that 
may be imposed on them by providers of assistance 
(paragraph BC 4). 
 

We are, however, concerned that the disclosure requirements 
proposed in this Exposure Draft will be too onerous for a number of the 
countries for which the draft standard is being developed. In addition, 
the range of mandatory disclosures proposed may, in many cases, 
lead to an increase in costs for recipient governments and thus mean 
that the second objective is not achieved. 
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We believe that only the core requirements for recipient governments 
to account for external assistance received in cash and accounted 
for within the government’s own financial systems should be a 
mandatory part of the proposed IPSAS, at least in the medium term. 
Additional disclosure requirements should be included in discretionary 
sections of the proposed standard. This would ensure that the 
proposed standard provided a practical benchmark of existing good 
practice while also encouraging further good practice disclosures. 
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Detailed Points 
 
 
Current good practice 
 

 
1. We are concerned that the disclosure requirements proposed in 

this Exposure Draft will be too onerous for a number of the 
countries for which the draft standard is being developed. In 
addition, the range of mandatory disclosures proposed may, in 
some cases, lead to an increase in costs for recipient 
governments. 
 

2. Tanzania and Uganda are both considered to provide examples 
of reasonably good practice in terms of public-sector financial 
management and accountability, at least in comparison with 
other Anglophone developing countries. In both cases, efforts 
are being made to implement the requirements of the IFAC cash 
basis IPSAS. In addition, over the last few years the Governments 
of each of these countries have developed separate and 
different approaches to accounting for external assistance and 
reporting on budgetary outcomes to their development partners. 
 

3. In terms of the disclosure requirements proposed in the Exposure 
Draft, the Tanzanian reports only comply with one of the 15 
requirements (to provide an analysis of total loans and grants 
received, outlined in paragraph 16) and part of a further 
requirement (to provide an analysis of total external assistance 
received, outlined in paragraph 13). 
  

4. Likewise, the Ugandan report does not incorporate many of the 
disclosure requirements proposed by the IPSASB. It adopts only 
two of the 15 requirements (those to provide an analysis of 
external assistance by major classes of provider, outlined in 
paragraph 15 and to provide an analysis of total loans and 
grants received, as outlined in paragraph 16). In addition, it 
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complies in part with a further two (to provide an analysis of total 
external assistance received, as outlined in paragraph 13 and to 
provide details of external debt cancelled or rescheduled). 
 
Analysis of external assistance 
 

5. We consider that the analysis of external assistance into the six 
categories required by the Exposure Draft is over-prescriptive, 
may increase costs for the reporting entities and may lead to 
disputes and confusion with their development partners. We 
consider that such an analysis should be a secondary 
requirement and so relegated to an additional section covering 
disclosures which are encouraged to be adopted, but are not 
mandatory. 

 
 Emergency assistance 
 
6. The proposed standard should note the particular challenges of 

accounting for emergency assistance, especially when this is 
made in-kind or to third parties. Thus, in most cases, it should be 
recognised that such external assistance will not be disclosed in 
the financial statements of recipient governments (an exception 
would be emergency assistance provided in cash direct to the 
recipient government). 
 
External assistance paid to third parties 
 

7. Again, we consider that the required disclosure of payments to 
third parties is of secondary importance and should be relegated 
to a section of optional additional disclosures. Governments in 
receipt of such external assistance may have difficulty in 
reporting such information unless this detail was to be provided 
by each of its development partners. 
 

8. We believe that the core, mandatory requirement of the 
proposed standard should only cover government to 
government external assistance, that is aid which is actually 
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managed by and recorded in the financial systems of the 
recipient entities. This will include, for example, budget support, 
basket funds and project support which is provided directly to 
entities which are part of the reporting entity. For completeness 
and increased comparability, disclosures of external assistance 
provided in the form of support to entities with independent 
financial systems which are not covered by the relevant financial 
statements and by payments to third parties should be 
encouraged, but such disclosures should not be a mandatory 
part of the proposed standard. 
 

9. In paragraph 14 of the Exposure Draft there appears to be a 
typographical error, with reference being made to external 
assistance paid ’by third parties’ rather than ’to third parties’. 
 
Disclosure of separate providers of external assistance 
 

10. We consider that where external assistance is received from 
more than one provider then this should be analysed into each 
provider. In addition, the notes to the financial statements should 
provide details of the assistance in the currency in which it was 
provided. This disclosure, which is an addition to those proposed 
in the Exposure Draft, would allow each provider to identify in the 
audited financial statements of the entity the total assistance 
which they have provided. The Ugandan Annual Budget 
Performance Report referred to above provides details of 
external assistance received from each development partner in 
the form of budget support analysed into loans/grants and 
Poverty Action Fund/other. These payments are reported in US 
dollars. 
 
Disclosure of rescheduled or cancelled external assistance debt 
 

11. We agree that an entity should “disclose separately in the notes 
to the financial statements the amount of external assistance 
debt rescheduled or cancelled” (paragraph 50). However, we 
consider that the additional requirement to disclose ’the terms 

RESPONSES TO ED 24 PAGE 14.64



14.3-16 
 

and conditions associated with the restructuring of the entity’s 
debt’ may be unnecessarily onerous. For example, in Ghana 
there over 100 loan agreements, thus the disclosure of even the 
key terms and conditions would form a significant extension to 
the Government’s financial statements.. As a result we consider 
that this additional requirement should be included in an 
additional section of optional good practice. 
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Additional disclosure requirements 
 

12. We consider that the following disclosure requirements outlined in 
the Exposure Draft (paragraphs 22 - 49) are not essential for the 
reporting of external assistance and are not necessarily existing 
good practice. Thus we believe that these requirements would 
be better included in an additional section outlining optional 
good practice, at least in the medium term: 
 
• receipt of goods or services in-kind  

 
• undrawn external assistance 

 
• non-compliance with terms and conditions of external 

assistance 
 

• terms and conditions of external assistance loans or grants 
 

• guarantees 
 
and 
 

• repayment terms of external assistance loans. 
 
13. We believe, however, that, with the exception of the first two of 

the above points, IFAC could indicate that the proposed IPSAS 
will be revised in five years’ time, with the intention of making 
these disclosure requirements mandatory. 
 
Loans administered on behalf of a third party 
 

14. We agree with the principles applied in paragraph 21 of the draft 
standard. We believe, however, that it would be significantly 
easier for the providers of such external assistance to follow such 
loans or grants and a clearer picture would be provide if both 
liability and assets are fully recognised in the financial statements 
of the entity which is administering the external assistance. 
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Good practice by development partners 
 

15. We note that two of the Public Expenditure and Financial 
Accountability (PEFA) benchmarks on good financial 
management refer to the role of donors. The first provides a 
benchmark on the extent to which direct budget support is 
provided promptly and in line with commitments. The second 
refers to the extent to which donors provide recipient 
governments with information on a quarterly basis on the aid 
which is to be provided and on the project aid which has been 
provided. The report of the Commission for Africa, page 41, 
stated earlier this year that international donors: 
 
fail to live up to their funding pledges. And they provide funds 
over short timeframes, which deters African governments from 
making long-term commitments to projects they know they 
could not afford to continue if funding dried up after one or two 
years. Where aid is ineffective donors are sometimes to blame as 
much as recipients. Donor countries must change their 
approach. 
 

16. In addition, according to Oxfam (Paying the Price, 2004): 
 
In Zambia, more than three quarters of donor agencies fail to 
notify the government about actual aid disbursements, making 
effective financial planning extremely difficult for the 
government. In Tanzania, 20 out of 39 donor agencies submitted 
no information about project or programme spending when 
asked to do so by government. 
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17. ACCA believes that it would be useful for the proposed standard 
to require at least the main providers of external assistance to 
provide an annual report to the government to which it has 
provided assistance. This report would provide much of the detail 
which the current Exposure Draft suggests should be included (at 
least within the notes) in the financial statements of the recipient 
government. Such a report should cover the financial year of the 
recipient government, should be provided within two months of 
the end of this financial year and should cover, for example: 
 
• an analysis of total external assistance provided, analysed 

into the categories currently suggested by paragraph 13 of 
the Exposure Draft 
 

• payments made to third parties to settle the government’s 
obligations (paragraph 14) 
 

• the amounts of any external assistance debt rescheduled or 
cancelled (paragraph 50) 
 

• undrawn external assistance (paragraph 22-24) 
 

• terms and conditions of external assistance loans or grants 
(paragraph 26-28) 
 

• guarantees (paragraph 33) 
 

• non-compliance with terms and conditions of external 
assistance (paragraph 36) 
 

• repayment terms of external assistance loans (paragraph 
39-40) 
 
and 
 

• receipt of goods or services in-kind (paragraph 44). 
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18. We consider that such an annual report from a provider of 
external assistance should also provide a comparison of actual 
remittances, compared with those which were proposed in 
agreements with the recipient government.  
 

19. In addition, we believe that governments and international 
financial institutions which have provided loans to governments 
of developing countries should ensure that demand notes for 
interest and capital repayments are submitted sufficiently 
promptly for such payments to be made on time. The Tanzanian 
Quarterly Budget Execution Report for the first quarter of the 
2004/05 financial year stated that delays in the submission of 
such demand notes were the main reason for the under-spend in 
debt servicing for that quarter (page 1). 
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Specific Matters for Comment 
 
 
1. Whether the proposed definition of “external assistance” in 

paragraph 5 is sufficiently broad to encompass all official 
resources received. 

We consider that the definition is sufficiently broad. However, we 
consider that the mandatory part of the proposed standard 
should only refer to external assistance paid in cash to the 
reporting entity. The main objective of this standard should be to 
ensure that such payments are adequately accounted for in the 
recipient government’s financial statements.  
 

2. Whether other sources of assistance, such as assistance provided 
by nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), should also be 
included in the definition of “external assistance”. Currently, the 
Exposure Draft requires that entities disclose all official resources 
received. Official resources as defined in paragraph 5 would 
exclude certain assistance received from NGOs. 

We consider that the proposed standard could also include 
external assistance made by NGOs to the extent that these are 
subject to formal agreements and that the payments are made 
in cash directly to the reporting entity. We do not consider that 
the scope of the proposed standard should be extended to 
include payments by NGOs in-kind or to third parties. 
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3. Whether the Exposure Draft should specify the categories of 
external assistance as required in paragraphs 13-15 or only 
require the disclosure of external assistance by “major classes” 
without further specification. 

We believe that the mandatory element of the proposed 
standard should only require the disclosure of external assistance 
by ’major classes’, without further specification. The suggested 
additional optional section of good practice could, however, 
recommend disclosure according to the categories outlined in 
paragraphs 13-15 of the Exposure Draft. 
 

4. The proposal to disclose the balance of, and changes in, 
undrawn external assistance during the period (paragraph 22). 

As noted in paragraph 17 above, we do not consider that such a 
requirement should be a mandatory element of the proposed 
standard. 

5. The proposal to disclose the terms and conditions of external 
assistance agreements as required by paragraphs 26-28 and any 
non-compliance thereof (paragraph 36). 

As noted in paragraph 17 above, we do not consider that such a 
requirement should be a mandatory element of the proposed 
standard. 
 

6. Whether the proposals in paragraph 44 as noted below are 
appropriate: 
 
(a) To disclose the fair value of non-cash goods-in-kind; and 
 
(b) That fair value should be based on the prices of equivalent 
goods or services in the recipient country. 
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As noted in paragraph 17 above, we do not consider that such a 
requirement should be a mandatory element of the proposed 
standard. 

7. Whether the disclosures proposed are appropriate. If the 
disclosures are considered excessive, the IPSASB would welcome 
input on which disclosures should not be required. The IPSASB 
would also welcome input on any key disclosures that have not 
been dealt with and should be required. 

As noted above, we consider that many disclosure requirements 
included in the Exposure Draft are excessive and would be better 
moved to a section of the proposed standard detailing 
additional, optional disclosures. 
 

8. Whether the proposal in paragraph 54: 
 
(a) For a transition period of two years is sufficient to apply this 
Standard. Is a longer transitional period necessary to ensure that 
the appropriate authorities in each recipient country are able to 
access the data necessary to properly account for external 
assistance? 
 
We believe that a transitional period of five years would be more 
appropriate (except for the requirements relative to cash 
received directly by the reporting entity), unless our 
recommendation to significantly reduce the mandatory 
disclosure requirements is adopted. 
 
 
(b) To exempt the requirement to disclose comparative figures 
during the first year of application of this Standard is appropriate. 

We agree with this recommendation. 
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June 17, 2005 
 
Mr. Paul Sutcliffe 
IPSASB Technical Director 
International Federation of Accountants 
545 Fifth Avenue 
14th Floor 
New York, NY 10017 
 
Re: Proposed International Public Sector Accounting Standard: Financial Reporting Under the 
Cash Basis of Accounting – Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of External Assistance 
 

Via email 
Dear Mr. Sutcliffe: 
 
Grant Thornton International appreciates the opportunity to comment on the above referenced 
Exposure Draft (ED 24) regarding disclosure requirements for recipients of external assistance. 
Our comments follow the order suggested: Exposure Draft in General and then Specific Matters. 
 
The Exposure Draft in General 
 
Grant Thornton International supports the issuance of the proposed standard.  We believe that 
the disclosure of information relating to international donor assistance, both loans and grants, in 
reporting national revenue and expenditures is essential to determining whether the financial 
statements present a “true and fair view” of (or “presents fairly”) a country’s financial condition.  
Including this assistance assures that financial statements adequately describe a country’s sources 
of funds and in particular the extent of its reliance on external assistance to meet its budgetary 
requirements. 
 
However we recommend that the application of this proposed standard should be extended to 
apply to all public sector entities, other than government business entities, that are recipients of 
external assistance and not limited to those entities that prepare and present their general purpose 
financial statements on a cash basis of accounting. 
 
Entities that prepare their general purpose financial statements under an accrual basis and existing 
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) explicitly should be required to make 
these same disclosures in order that users of those financial statements can more accurately 

Grant Thornton International 
 
Barry Barber 
Worldwide Director of Audit and Quality Control 
399 Thornall Street 
Edison, New Jersey 08837 
732-516-5500 
732-516-5550 Direct 
732-516-5502 Fax 
email barry.barber@gt.com 
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determine the financial condition of the public sector entity.  While we acknowledge that 
application of existing IPSASs, and in particular IPSAS 2 Cash Flow Statements and IPSAS 15 
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, should give rise to some disclosures about external 
assistance, the disclosure requirements are not as explicit as those proposed by ED 24.   
 
We also recommend that the Board explicitly extend the application of ED 24 to public sector 
entities preparing general purpose financial statements under an accrual basis of accounting so as 
to improve comparability between government entities that prepare their financial statements on 
different bases (cash and accrual).  We believe this would be an important improvement in 
financial reporting by governments and improve transparency and information usefulness to 
providers of external assistance. 
 
Specific Matters for Comment 
 
1. Whether the proposed definition of “external assistance” in paragraph 5 is sufficiently broad to encompass all 
official resources received. 
 
We believe that official resources will be generated internally as well.  For the avoidance of any 
doubt, we suggest adding “other than internally generated funding” after “resources” in the 
definition of external assistance.  The definition of External Assistance would read:    
External Assistance means all official resources, other than any internally generated funding, 
which the recipient can use or otherwise benefit from in pursuit of its objectives. 
 
2. Whether other sources of assistance, such as assistance provided by non-governmental organizations (NGOs), 
should also be included in the definition of “external assistance”.   
 
We consider that NGO assistance/funding of any type should not be included in the definition of 
external assistance as this stage of the development of accounting standards for public sector 
entities that prepare the general purpose financial statements on a cash basis of accounting. 
Explicit extension of ED24 to assistance from NGO’s we believe could give rise to confusion and 
too much detail at this time.   
 
3. Whether the Exposure Draft should specify the categories of external assistance as required in paragraphs 13-15 
or only require the disclosure of external assistance by “major classes” without further specification. 
 
We believe that categories are useful and should be required.  It will most likely take some time to 
determine which categories are most useful and the level of detail which best assists users in 
understanding the circumstances surrounding a country’s assistance.  Therefore, it is likely that 
some modification of the categories will occur; even though at this time we are unable to 
anticipate what they might be.  Countries should have some flexibility in selecting categories as 
long as full disclosure is not compromised. 
 
4. The proposal to disclose the balance of, and changes in, undrawn external assistance during the period 
(paragraph 22). 
 
We agree that data on changes and balances of undrawn assistance will be useful.  A comparison 
of the relative accessibility of donor and internal funds would also be useful in assessing budget 
and funds management effectiveness. 
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5. The proposal to disclose the terms and conditions of external assistance agreements as required by paragraphs 26-
28 and any non-compliance thereof (paragraph 36). 
 
We support disclosure of the material terms and conditions of external assistance agreements, and 
any material non-compliance with those terms and conditions.  These are necessary to inform the 
user about the current and future cash flows of the entity.  However, having said that, these 
disclosures can often be very lengthy.  To avoid the risk of public sector entities  (intentionally or 
accidentally) attempting to mask critical information with disclosure of too much detail, we 
recommend that the Board make clearer the application of the concept of materiality with regard 
the disclosure of terms and conditions of external assistance and any non-compliance thereof. 
 
We do not believe that it is sufficient for the only reference to materiality to be in the last sentence 
of an introductory paragraph; such that a sentence is include that reads “International Public 
Sector Accounting Standards are not intended to apply to immaterial items”.  We recommend, as 
a minimum, that specific use is made of the words material, key or significant is used in 
paragraphs 26-28 and 36 of ED 24.  Use of such words would parallel existing disclosure 
requirements, for example in IPSAS 15 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, which uses 
words such as major type of forecasted transaction (paragraph 50) and “significant terms and 
conditions” (paragraph 54).   
 
We also recommend the inclusion of an explanatory paragraph with regard to the level of detail 
that should be disclosed and recommend that the Board include the following paragraph in ED 24 
(this parallels paragraph 52 of IPSAS 15).    
 

“Determination of the level of detail to be disclosed about particular external assistance is 
a matter for the exercise of judgment taking into account the relative significance of that 
external assistance.  It is necessary to strike a balance between overburdening financial 
statements with excessive detail that may not assist users of financial statements and 
obscuring significant information as a result of too much aggregation.   For example, 
when an entity is party to large numbers of external assistance agreements with similar 
characteristics and no one agreement is individually significant, summarized information 
by reference to particular classes of external assistance is appropriate.  On the other hand, 
specific information about an individual external assistance agreement may be important 
when that agreement represents, for example, a significant entity’s cash flows.”  

 
6. Whether the proposals in paragraph 44 as noted below are appropriate: 

(a)  To disclose the fair value of non-cash goods-in-kind; and 
(b)  That fair value should be based on the prices of equivalent goods or services in the recipient country. 

 
We believe data on non-cash goods in kind would be a useful disclosure. 
 
7. Whether the disclosures proposed are appropriate.  If the disclosures are considered excessive, the IPSASB would 
welcome input on which disclosures should not be required.  The IPSASB would also welcome input on any key 
disclosures that have not been dealt with and should be required. 
 
We believe the disclosures proposed are generally appropriate.  Similar to our comments in item 5, 
these disclosures can often be very lengthy and the Board may wish to consider providing 
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guidance between providing users the level of disclosure they believe they need to understand the 
governmental entity’s donor assistance and not providing disclosures that may truly be not 
necessary to fully understand the nature and extent of present and future cash flows.  
 
8. Whether the proposal in paragraph 54: 
 

(a)  For a transition period of two years is sufficient to apply this Standard.  Is a longer transitional 
period necessary to ensure that the appropriate authorities   in each recipient country are able to access the 
data necessary to properly   account for external assistance? 
 
(b)  To exempt the requirement to disclose comparative figures during the first year of application of this 
Standard is appropriate. 

 
We believe these to be appropriate transitional periods and support the Board’s decision not to 
require disclosure of comparative figures during the first year of application of the Standard   
 
 
 
 
Please direct any questions/comments you may have to Dick Willett, Director of International 
Operations, in our US member firm’s Global Public Sector unit in Alexandria, VA.  His phone 
number is 703/837-4444 and email is dick.willett@gt.com. 
 
Very truly yours, 
 

 
 
Barry Barber 
Grant Thornton International 
Worldwide Director of Audit and Quality Control 
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FROM: THE OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL, KINGDOM OF NEPAL 
 
 
 
14 June 2005 
 
International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) 
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) 
545 Fifth Avenue, 14th Floor,  
New York,  NY 10017, USA. 

FAX: +1-212-2869570 
(Attention: Ms. Helene Kennedy) 
 
 
 
We studied the Exposure Draft 24 on Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of 
Accounting –Disclosure Requirements of External Assistance and it is our pleasure to 
attach herewith our comments for your consideration. 
 
Shall you need further comments in this connection please free to contact me at +977-1-
4262639 and Email: oagnep@ntc.net.np . 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
(Dev Bohara) 
Assistant Auditor General 
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Comments on Exposure Draft 24 
Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of Accounting –Disclosure 
Requirements of External Assistance 
 

1. Para 5: 
Waiving of loan and interest thereon or debt relief may be a form of 
assistance, hence it would appropriate to be covered in the definition of 
external assistance. 

2. Para 44: 
Date to be used for application of exchange rate needs to be clarified for 
determining fair value of assistance. Particularly; 

• Rate applicable at reporting time or, and 

• Date of payment. 

Similarly, date to be used for application of foreign exchange for valuation 
purposes for Turn Key assistance also needs to be specified.  

3. Others 
Apart from above we believe that the following points also deserve 
consideration: 

a. Mode of payment:  
Normally mode of external assistance may include cash, reimbursable, 
direct payment and Turn Key assistance. In our view, the disclosure 
policies of these modes of payment need to be specified in the standard to 
make fair presentation of such assistance. 

b. Treatment of reimbursable  
Whether the reimbursable amount can be treated as loan or grant and its 
disclosure policy needs to be specified in the standard. 
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Buenos Aires, April 27, 2005. 
IFAC IPSASB – ED 24 Draft – External Assistance  
Financial Reporting under Cash Basis 
Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of External Assistance 
         
 
ED Comments 
 
I – General Aspects 
 
In terms of the points discussed concerning the requirements, the opinion that this 
standard, as written “should be read in conjunction with the IPSAS Cash Basis”, as 
additional disclosures about external assistance is shared. On the other hand, we do not 
share the opinion that “the IPSAS are not destined to be applied to immaterial items”, 
since – as for goods-in-kind- these can be present in certain cases of external assistance.  
 
In relation to the objective of the Standard, in the sense that it is destined for elaborated 
financial statements in accordance with the NICSP Cash Basis, constitutes a serious 
limitation. In this way, the Standard is reduced to incomes and fund expenditures, and 
does not disclose in accounting statements, for example, the contributions received  
in-kind (goods and services). Such a mistake originates from the error of focusing on the 
topic from an exclusively monetarist point of view, under cash basis, relegating the 
accounting information, of accrued basis, which allows incorporation of assets assigned 
as part of the external assistance. 
 
In reference to what was previously mentioned, yes, we understand the cash basis view is 
suited to international institutions of credit; one should not undervalue the need to 
contemplate the totality of goods delivered as external assistance, since in this way there 
is no damage to the integrity of the information, the corresponding rendition of accounts, 
and its control, in addition to guaranteeing the transparency of the governmental 
management in the matter.  
 
By maintaining the order of the mentioned ED, in continuation there are comments 
included about the points contained in the above mentioned draft (with mention of the 
paragraph number):  
 

1- Scope: It would correspond to take into account the transition that is occurring 
from the cash basis to the accrued basis; that is to say, that the Standard should be 
restructured in such a way as to contemplate the following alternatives: 

 
a) if it is solely on a cash basis then the current standard should be applied, in 

transition towards the accrued. 
 
b) if the cash basis and the accrued basis are applied, two statements will be 

elaborated on that same basis.  
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c) if only the accrued basis is applied, then there may be the additional requirement 
of a cash basis statement.  

 
2- The belief that this Standard should not be applied to “Governmental Business 

Enterprises” (GBEs) is not shared, because it causes degradation of the principle 
of integrity of the information.  

 
 
4) Definitions: There is an agreement with the definitions incorporated into the Standard, 
except in the following cases: 
 

- In defining the GBEs, among the characteristics there is mention of “financial and 
operational authority…,” when it should say: “financial and operational 
autonomy” 

 
- For such enterprises it must be added that “they do not depend on continuous 

governmental funds to continue functioning…,” which is not the case in the 
majority of Latin American countries, where the above mentioned entities receive 
contributions from the treasury to cover partially or completely their operating 
expenses (on the basis of budgets approved by the Executive Power), in addition 
to being subject to the control of internal and/or external control entities.  

 
- The definition of “External Assistance,” in reference to the fact that it covers “all 

official resources…” is not correct, because in accordance to cash basis, received 
goods are not disclosed and in addition, not all resources are “official.” 

 
 

33) Guarantees: On the requisite that the entity must disclose separately the notes to the 
financial statements:..“.b)...any additional terms and conditions resulting from the 
guarantee agreement,” it would seem that the scope of the note would be excessive, since 
it would sufficient to disclose those of major significance, leaving the rest for more 
detailed examination or control. 
 
 
44) Receipt of Goods or Services-in-Kind: It is said that the “entity must disclose 
separately in the notes to the financial statements the fair value of goods and services 
received in-kind…,” which forms a conceptual contradiction from the point of view of 
the scope of the cash basis of the Standard whereas, on the other hand, it warrants the 
need to apply the accrued basis, not just in notes but as a general criteria of the mentioned 
statement.  
 
II- Specific aspects to comment according to IPSASB: 
 
1) The proposed definition of external assistance is only partially inclusive from the cash 
basis point of view and not from the accrued basis.  
 

RESPONSES TO ED 24 PAGE 14.80



14.3-19 

2) The definition should include other sources of assistance, such as those given by 
ONGs. 
 
3)  There is an agreeance with specifying the categories of external assistance (paragraph 
13 to 15 of the ED). 
 
4) There is an agreeance with the proposal to disclose the balance and changes to the 
external assistance that has not been cancelled during the period (paragraph 22), without 
losing sight of the connotations that such information implies from the accrued basis 
point of view. 
 
5) There is an agreeance with the idea of disclosing the terms and conditions contained in 
the external assistance agreements (paragraph 26 to 28) and any noncompliance of the 
same (paragraph 36). 
 
6) The proposal of disclosing the value of goods-in-kind (paragraph 44) is adequate, even 
though the inclusion of notes of financial statements is not shared, since it contradicts 
with the Cash Basis Standard philosophy.  
 
7) There is the opinion that the proposed disclosures by the Standard are not excessive, 
except for those cases that require the exposure of all contractual conditions.  
 
8) The transitional period of two years is considered to be suitable to apply this Standard 
(paragraph 54), as well as the exemption from the requirement of disclosing comparative 
numbers during the first year of application. 
 
Conclusions:  
 
1) It is considered that the Standard should be restructured to incorporate alternatives for 
presenting information in financial statements not only on the cash basis but also on the 
accrued basis (for those cases where countries are able to) and if there is a separation 
from the cash basis, then a period to carry out the transition should be prescribed (for 
those countries that find themselves in that process of change). 
 
 2) On the idea presented, the Standard should from the beginning contemplate the joint 
presentation of financial statements on both accounting bases, including the respective 
statement models as annexes of the same. 
 
3) The Standard in review should require the need for accounting information coming 
from respective external executing borrowing units to join as part of the principle 
financial statements, without prejudice for its separate identification in the body of the 
same (for example: different sub digits for the same account). 
 
4) In accordance with the preceding item the lack of accounting integration and 
harmonization between entities and their external executing borrowing units, and 
between these last mentioned and the accounting requirements for lenders, provokes the 
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consequent disorder and lack of control in the capitulation of public accounts. In this 
way, in the case of lenders, international entities tend to enforce their own accounting 
requirements that have a wider scope and are more detailed then those in the present ED, 
with specific plans of accounts for the executing units, due to which it is recommended to 
previously carry out an integral report in the particular place so as to unify and perfect the 
ideas in the material.  
 
5) The comments expressed by the signer below have the objective of not only improving 
the accounting disclosure of the external assistance, but also the need to eradicate the 
high grades of corruption that are observed in Latin-American governments. 

 
Cont. Néstor A. Colombus 
Governmental investigator 
Buenos Aires – Argentina 
     
 
E-mail: anycef@hotmail.com y cefmi@latinmail.com 
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Buenos Aires, 27 de abril de 2005.- 
IFAC - IPSASB - BORRADOR DEL ED 24 - ASISTENCIA EXTERNA 
INFORMACIÓN FINANCIERA SOBRE BASE  CAJA 
Requerimientos de Revelación para Receptores de Asistencia Externa 
_________________________________________________________ 
 
Informo sobre mis comentarios al ED de referencia: 
 
I - Aspectos Generales: 
 
Conforme a los puntos que tratan sobre los requerimientos, se comparte el criterio de 
que esta Norma, así redactada, "deberá leerse en conjunción con la IPSAS Base Caja", a 
modo de revelaciones adicionales sobre asistencia externa. En cambio, no se comparte el 
criterio general de que "las IPSAS no están destinadas a ser aplicadas a los ítems 
inmateriales", ya que  -al igual que para los bienes en especie- los mismos pueden estar 
presentes en determinados casos de asistencia externa. 
 
Con relación  al objetivo de la Norma, en el sentido de estar destinada a los estados 
financieros elaborados de acuerdo con la NICSP Base Caja, se considera que tal 
condición constituye una seria limitación, dado que así la Norma se reduce a los ingresos 
y egresos de fondos, no revelando en los estados contables, por ejemplo, los aportes 
recibidos en especie (bienes y servicios). Tal falencia se origina en el error de enfocar el 
tema sobre la base de una visión exclusivamente monetarista, de base caja, relegando la 
información contable de base devengado, la cual permite incorporar activos asignados 
como parte de la asistencia externa. 
 
De acuerdo a lo expuesto precedentemente, si bien se entiende la visión de base caja 
propia de los organismos internacionales de crédito, no debe por ello subestimarse la 
necesidad de contemplar la totalidad de los bienes entregados como asistencia externa, 
pues así no se vulnera la integridad de la información, la correspondiente rendición de 
cuentas y su control, además de garantizar la transparencia de la gestión gubernamental 
en la materia. 
 
Según el ordenamiento del mencionado ED, seguidamente se incluyen comentarios sobre 
los puntos contenidos en dicho borrador (con mención del número de párrafo): 
 
1- Alcance:  Correspondería tomar en cuenta la transición que se viene operando desde la 
base caja al devengado, es decir que la Norma debiera replantearse de tal forma que 
contemple las siguientes alternativas:  
 
a) si se lleva sólo base caja se aplica la presente Norma, en transición hacia el devengado. 
 
b) si se aplica base caja y base devengado, se elaborarán dos estados sobre esas mismas 
bases. 
 
c) si se aplica sólo base devengado, podría requerirse adicionalmente el estado base caja. 
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2 -No se comparte el criterio de que esta Norma no se aplique a las "Empresas 
Comerciales del Gobierno" (GBEs), porque ello incide en detrimento del principio de 
integridad de la información. 
 
4) Definiciones: Se comparten las definiciones incorporadas a la Norma, excepto en los 
siguientes casos: 
 
- Al definir las GBEs,  entre las características de las mismas se menciona "la autoridad 
financiera y operativa...", cuando debiera decir: "la autonomía financiera y operativa" 
 
- Para dichas empresas se agrega que "no dependen de los fondos continuos del gobierno 
para  seguir en funcionamiento...", lo cual no es así en la mayoría de los países 
latinoamericanos, donde dichos entes reciben aportes del tesoro para cubrir parcial o 
totalmente sus gastos de explotación (sobre la base de presupuestos aprobados por el 
Poder Ejecutivo), además de estar sujetas al control de los órganos de control interno y / 
o externo.. 
 
- La definición de "Asistencia Externa", en lo referente a que cubre "todos los recursos 
oficiales..." no es correcta, porque conforme a la base caja no se revelan los bienes 
recibidos y, además, no todos los recursos son "oficiales". 
 
33) Garantías: Sobre el requisito de que la entidad deberá revelar por separado en las 
notas a los estados financieros:..".b) ..cualquier término y condiciones adicionales que 
resulten del acuerdo de garantía", pareciera que se excede el alcance de una nota, ya que 
bastaría con exponer las de mayor significatividad, dejando las restantes para cualquier 
consulta o control en detalle. 
 
44) Recepción de Bienes o Servicios en Especie: Dice que "la entidad deberá revelar 
por separado en las notas a los estados financieros el justo valor de los bienes o servicios 
recibidos en especie...", lo cual configura una contradicción conceptual desde el punto de 
vista del alcance de la base caja de la Norma mientras que, por otra parte, avala la 
necesidad de aplicar la base devengado ya no en notas sino como criterio general de los 
mencionados estados. 
 
II - Aspectos específicos para comentar según IPSASB: 
 
1) La definición propuesta de asistencia externa sólo es parcialmente abarcativa desde el 
punto de vista de la base caja y no desde la base devengado. 
 
2) Debe incluirse en la definición  a las otras fuentes de asistencia, tales como las  
suministradas por ONGs. 
 
3) Se comparte el criterio de especificar las categorías de asistencia externa (párrafos 13 a 
15 del ED) 
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4) Se comparte la propuesta de revelar el saldo y los cambios de la asistencia externa no 
cancelada durante el período (párrafo 22), sin dejar de reconocer las connotaciones que 
dicha información implica desde el punto de vista de la base devengado. 
 
5) Se comparte el criterio de revelar los términos y condiciones de los acuerdos de 
asistencia externa (párrafos 26 al 28) y cualquier incumplimiento de los mismos (párrafo 
36). 
 
6) La propuesta de revelar el valor de los bienes en especie (párrafo 44) es adecuada, 
aunque su inclusión en notas a los estados financieros no se comparte, ya que se 
contradice con la filosofía de la Norma de base caja. 
 
7) Se opina que las revelaciones propuestas por la Norma no son excesivas, excepto para 
los casos en los cuales se requiere exponer  la totalidad de las condiciones contractuales. 
 
8) Se considera adecuado el período de transición de dos años para aplicar esta Norma 
(párrafo 54), lo mismo que eximir del requerimiento de revelar cifras comparativas 
durante el primer año de aplicación de la misma.  
 
Conclusiones: 
 
1) Se considera que la Norma debiera replantearse en el sentido de incorporar la 
alternativa de presentar la información en los estados financieros no sólo sobre base caja 
sino también sobre base devengado (para el caso de aquellos países en que resulte posible 
tal criterio) y que, si bien se parte de la base caja, debieran prescribirse plazos para 
efectuar la correspondiente transición (para el caso de aquellos países que se encuentran 
en dicho proceso de cambio). 
 
2) Sobre el criterio expuesto, la Norma debiera desde un principio contemplar la 
presentación conjunta  de los estados financieros sobre amabas bases contables, 
incluyendo los respectivos modelos de estados como anexos de la misma. 
 
3) La Norma en estudio debiera requerir la necesidad que la información contable 
procedente de las respectivas unidades ejecutoras de préstamos externos se integre como 
parte de los estados financieros principales, sin perjuicio de su identificación por 
separado en el cuerpo de los mismos (ejemplo: distintos subdígitos para una misma 
cuenta). 
 
4) De acuerdo a lo expuesto en el ítem precedente se observa la carencia de integración y 
armonización  contable entre las entidades y sus unidades ejecutoras de préstamos 
externos, y entre estas últimas y los requisitos contables de los prestadores, lo cual 
provoca el consiguiente desorden y descontrol en la rendición de las cuentas públicas. 
Así, en el caso de los prestadores, los organismos internacionales suelen exigir requisitos 
contables propios mucho más amplios y detallados que los del presente ED, con 
específicos planes de cuentas para las unidades ejecutoras, razón por la cual se 
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recomienda efectuar previamente un relevamiento integral en dicho ámbito a los fines de 
unificar y perfeccionar criterios en la materia. 
 
5) Los comentarios expresados por el suscripto tienen como objetivo no sólo mejorar la 
revelación contable de la asistencia externa, sino también la necesidad de erradicar los 
altos grados de corrupción que se observan en los gobiernos latinoamericanos. 
 
Cont. Néstor A. Colombo 
Investigador gubernamental 
Buenos Aires - Argentina 
____________________ 
 
E-mail: anycef@hotmail.com y cefmi@latinmail.com 
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Date Président Fédération Av. d’Auderghem 22-28 
  des Experts 1040 Bruxelles 
22 June 2005  Comptables Tél.  32 (0) 2 285 40 85 
  Européens Fax: 32 (0) 2 231 11 12 
  IASBL E-mail: secretariat@fee.be 
 
 
 
 
 
Mr. Paul Sutcliffe 
The Technical Director 
International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board 
545 Fifth Avenue 
14th floor 
USA-New York 10017 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Mr. Sutcliffe, 
 
Re: Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of External Assistance (Exposure Draft 24) 
 
Introduction 
 
FEE is pleased to comment on exposure draft 24. 
 
We welcome the initiative taken by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board in 
developing this standard. 
 
We believe the standard will help donors of assistance to ascertain more readily how their donations 
have been used. We also note that if the standard is followed, the statements of recipients will be more 
readily comparable. Finally we acknowledge that adoption of the standard should reduce recipients’ 
costs in complying with the different reporting requirements that are currently imposed on them by 
providers of assistance. 
 
We have set out detailed comments on the questions you raise in the Annex to this letter. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 

 
David Devlin 
President 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Encl. 
 

www.fee.be Association Internationale reconnue par Arrêté Royal en date du 30 décembre 1986 
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ANNEX 
 
Specific Matters for Comment 
 
1. Whether the proposed definition of “external assistance” in paragraph 5 is sufficiently broad to 
encompass all official resources received. 
 
We agree that the definition is sufficiently broad to encompass all official resources received.  However, 
we have concerns that it would not cover all grants and donations received, for instance from NGOs – 
see (2) below. 
 
2. Whether other sources of assistance, such as assistance provided by non-governmental 
organisations (NGOs), should also be included in the definition of “external assistance”. Currently, the 
Exposure Draft requires that entities disclose all official resources received. Official resources as 
defined in paragraph 5 would exclude certain assistance received from NGOs. 
 
Whilst we can see that there is some merit in the ED covering all external assistance received including 
that supplied by NGOs, we believe that this would place an unreasonable reporting burden on 
developing countries.  We would therefore do not support the inclusion of this requirement in the ED. 
 
3. Whether the Exposure Draft should specify the categories of external assistance by “major classes” 
without further specification. 
 
Specification of the categories will aid comparison between financial statements and for that reason we 
support the draft ED paragraphs 13 – 15.  We suggest that it is very important to retain the ‘other’ 
category to prevent omission of any amounts if they do not fit into the other five categories. 
 
4. The proposal to disclose the balance of, and changes in, undrawn external assistance during the 
period (paragraph 22). 
 
We agree that the recording of undrawn external assistance is essential if the financial statements are 
to provide a complete picture and we therefore support the requirements set out in paragraph 22.  
However, we see that the category of ‘other’ has been omitted.  As discussed in (3) above, this could 
lead to omission and we therefore suggest that such a category be added. 
 
5. The proposal to disclose the terms and conditions of external assistance agreements as required by 
paragraphs 26-28 and other non-compliance thereof (paragraph 36). 
 
We agree with this proposal that the terms and conditions of external assistance agreements and non-
compliance thereof should be disclosed as set out in the ED. 
 
6. Whether the proposals in paragraph 44 as noted below are appropriate: 

(a) To disclose the fair value of non-cash goods-in-kind; and 
(b) That fair value should be based on the prices of equivalent goods or services in the recipient 

country. 
 
Whilst we see that disclosure of the fair value of non-cash goods in kind would be desirable, we believe 
that the process of valuing these goods could place an undue burden on recipient countries.  We 
therefore suggest that the provisions of paragraph 44 be made discretionary rather than mandatory. 
 
7. Whether the disclosures proposed are appropriate. If the disclosures are considered excessive, the 
IPSASB would welcome input on which disclosures should not be required. The IPSASB would also 
welcome input on any key disclosures that have not been dealt with and should be required. 
 
We believe that the disclosures are appropriate.  However, if there are particular difficulties identified for 
some of them, we suggest that they are made discretionary, rather than taken out altogether. 
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8. Whether the proposal in paragraph 54: 
(a) For a transitional period of two years is sufficient to apply this Standard. Is a longer transitional 

period necessary to ensure that the appropriate authorities in each recipient country are able to 
access the data necessary to properly account for external assistance? 

(b) To exempt the requirement to disclose comparative figures during the first year of application of 
this Standard is appropriate. 

 
We believe that two years is sufficient time for recipients to apply the Standard. 
 
We agree that there should be exemption for comparative figures in the first year. 
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SUMMARY OF ED 24 

 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE CASH BASIS  

Disclosure Requirements for Receptors of External Assistance 
 
 
Specific Issues to comment: 
 
The IPSASB would appreciate comments on: 
  

1. If the proposed definition of “external assistance” in paragraph 5 is wide 
enough as to cover all the official resources received.  

 
The definition: “Assistance of Payments Balance means all the official resources 
received to support the situation of balance of payments of the entity or to defend the 
exchange rate”. It is not clear because if it is the Balance of the Assistance it would be 
resources and the payments of the assistance received. The term “to defend an exchange 
rate” is not clear. Could it be to guarantee the coverage of an exchange rate? We should not 
forget that many times, for example in the Argentine case, this balance sheet cannot be 
elaborated, as the resources are handled by the units receiving the assistance, while the 
registration of payments is centrally handled by the Federal Government.  
 
 
The definition: “Bilateral Agencies of External Assistance are the agencies established 
under the national law, regulations or other national authority in order to provide 
specific or all the external assistance to that country”. For the argentine case, the 
bilateral capital markets include:  
Bodies which general financing is made through exports promotion agencies (such as 
Eximbank of USA) and other agencies which grant government to government financing 
(this type of debt, under certain circumstances, gives rise to the re-negotiation agreements 
made through the so-called “Paris Club”), and there are also banks or institutions of 
national credit such as the Banco de la Nación Argentina.  
 
Contributions made by Chile:  
 
“In relation to the definition of assistance, we should be more explicit, that is, in relation to 
“official resources which were originated in multilateral agencies, of government or 
governmental agencies”. Here we have donations to finance programs and specific projects. 
Normally, in the Institutional Classifiers, such as the ones in Chile, the Ministry is 
acknowledged as assignment, entities or public services are chapters, and specific activities 
are considered programs, which can include official resources as external assistance. To 
this respect, it would be convenient to include a type of Institutional Classifier in the 
IPSAS, with a greater scope than the one in the MEFP of the IMF 2001”.  
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2) If other sources of assistance should be included in the definition, such as the 
assistance granted by the Non Governmental Bodies (ONGs). Currently, the 
ED requires entities to inform any official resources received. Official resources 
would exclude specific assistance received from the ONGs.  

 
Assistance or donations received in GOODS should be included, as frequently they are not 
considered assistance and are not incorporated as such to the government patrimony, being 
extinguished at the end of the project of the received goods.  
 
 
Contributions made by Chile:   
 
Even if the assistance is in goods and services, this has a monetary expression, so there 
should be information about it in the notes to the financial statements, or more specifically 
with a money compensated movement, so as not to loose the information.  
   

3) If the ED should specify the categories of external assistance under the 
requirements of paragraphs 13 to 15 or only disclose the external assistance by 
“main categories” without specifications.  

 
OK with the requirements of paragraphs 13 and 15.  

 
4) The proposal to disclose the balance and changes of outstanding external 

assistance during the period (paragraph 22).  
 

This issue for the Argentine case is that resources are administered and handled by external 
loans units, frequently outside the governmental structure , which only contemplates the 
reception of resources but not the payments of the same, which are centralized, when of the 
federal government, in the Department of Public Credit. In fact, the resource is separated 
from the payment.  
 
 

5) The proposal to disclose the terms and conditions of the external assistance 
agreements under the requirements of paragraphs26-28 and any breach of the 
same (paragraph 36).  

 
In the case of the Federal Government, the information required in item 28 should be 
complied with by the Department of Public Credit, as the loan administration unit does not 
have said data, that is it does not contemplates the payment part, but only the 
disbursements.  
 

6) If the proposals of paragraph 44 are adequate: 
   

(a) Disclose the fair value of the goods in kind, not in cash; and  
(b) That the fair value should be based on the prices of the goods and services 

equivalent in the receptor country.  
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The organization should reveal information on the basis of accrual incorporating the assets 
to the Financial Statements and not in the Notes to the same. The information, as it is 
requested in the ED, is partial and does not solve the problem of registration of the external 
assistance loans. I understand that the information required shall be wider and on the 
accrual.  
 

7) If the proposed disclosures are appropriate. If the disclosures are considered 
excessive, if the IPSASB should receive input on key disclosures which have not 
been dealt with and should be required.  

 
I consider that the information which the units administrating foreign loans are required to 
disclose is wider than the one required in the ED (I attach the IDB requirements). The 
problem is that these units prepare different information for each grantor, under the 
regulations of each of them, apart from the one required by the Federal Government, being 
the latter not complied with in most of the cases, and handled outside the governmental 
system even with their own accounts outside the single Treasury account.  
 

8) If the proposal in paragraph 54:  
 

(a) If it is enough to have a transitional period of two years to implement the 
Standard or a larger period is necessary to guarantee that the authorities of 
each receptor country can get the necessary data to account for the external 
assistance.  

 
Correct. 
 

(b) If it is adequate to exempt from the requirement of disclosing contrast 
figures during the first year of implementation of the Standard.  

 
As expressed above, I think the units have the information, as currently they have to 
disclose the same under the requirements of the grantors.  
 
Contributions made by Chile: 
 
The best would be to recommend that apart from the accounts in the registration currency, 
analytical registrations should be kept in the currency of origin. 
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SANTIAGO, 10 de junio de 2005. 

 
Estimada Carmen: 
 
De acuerdo a lo solicitado, enviamos a Ud., el siguiente comentario: 
 
ED 24 Base de Caja Asuntos Específicos 
 

 Requisitos de revelación para asistencia externa 
 
En cuanto a la necesidad de esta norma, lo señalado en BC1, es enteramente 
cierto y razonable, valida aún para aquellos que llevando cuentas sobre la 
base devengo, deben llevar cuentas al margen y paralelas conforme lo piden 
los Organismo asistentes y/o prestatarios de proyectos. 
 
En relación a la definición de asistencia hay que ser más explicito, “recursos 
oficiales que se originaron en agencias multilaterales, de gobierno o agencias 
gubernamentales”.  Aquí se tienen donaciones para financiar programas y 
proyectos específicos, habitualmente, en las Clasificaciones Institucionales, 
como por ejemplo, la de Chile, se reconoce como partida al Ministerio, como 
capítulo las entidades o servicios públicos y como programas, a las 
actividades específicas, en las cuales pueden incluirse los recursos oficiales 
como asistencia externa.  En este aspecto sería conveniente, incluir una forma 
de Clasificación Institucional en las NICSP, de mayor alcance que lo señalo en 
coberturas en el MEFP del FMI 2001. 
 
En BC11, aún cuando la ayuda sea en bienes y servicios, éstas tienen 
expresión monetaria, por lo tanto, debería existir información sobre ella en 
nota a los estados contables, o más específicamente con un movimiento 
compensado de dinero, a objeto de no perder la información. 
 
En BC14, lo conveniente sería recomendar que además de las cuentas en 
moneda de registro se lleven analíticos en moneda de origen. 
 
Es cuanto podemos informar a Ud., 
 
Saludan  Atentamente a Ud, 
 
 

Nelson Camsen V.  José Allende  P. 
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THE WORLD BANK 
 

COMMENTS ON EXPOSURE DRAFT #24, FINANCIAL REPORTING UNDER 
THE CASH BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR 

RECIPIENTS OF EXTERNAL ASSISTANCE, PUBLISHED BY THE 
INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD 

 
 

Introduction 
The World Bank submits the following comments on Exposure Draft #24, Financial 
Reporting Under the Cash Basis of Accounting – Disclosure Requirements for Recipients 
of External Assistance, issued by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards 
Board.  The comments have been prepared under the auspices of the Bank’s Financial 
Management Sector Board. 
 
As one of the co-sponsors of this project, the Bank strongly supports the overall 
objectives of the Exposure Draft, which are to enhance the consistency and quality of 
financial reporting by recipients of external assistance, while reducing the compliance 
costs associated with such reporting.  The Exposure Draft seeks to do this by shifting the 
basis of reporting away from project- and donor-specific special purpose financial 
reports, in favor of compliance with a generally accepted international standard.   
 
Given these objectives, in our view the IPSASB’s principal objectives should be to 
ensure that: 
 
• The due process for completion of the standard will stand up to scrutiny. 
 
• It is realistic to expect that governments and other public sector entities will be in a 

position to adopt the standard. 
 
• The technical requirements of the proposed standard are coherent, consistent with the 

IPSASB’s conceptual framework, and understandable to users. 
 
In this context, our comments are set out below.  These comments are intended 
positively, and are aimed at assisting the IPSASB in developing a high quality standard 
that contributes to our shared objective – an improvement in the quality of financial 
reporting in the public sector. 
 
 
General Observations 
 
1. Due Process 
Notwithstanding the recent expansion of the membership of the IPSASB, developing 
country input to its deliberations is limited.  The technical debate within the Board is 
dominated by the (majority) developed country members, and tends to be concerned with 
technical financial reporting questions, to the exclusion of any substantive consideration 
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of implementation challenges, or specific issues that are likely to arise in the 
predominantly low-capacity environments where the IPSASB is hoping that this standard 
will be implemented. 
 
Partly to counterbalance its membership profile, the Board has in the past sought to 
undertake ‘field-testing’ of its draft pronouncements, with a view to highlighting specific 
implementation issues that may arise in developing countries.  Whilst these ‘field tests’ 
have enjoyed only limited success, in our view they are an important component of the 
IPSASB’s due process at this critical stage in its evolution as a standards-setter. 
 
We note that the OECD Joint Venture on Public Financial Management made a late 
suggestion that this Exposure Draft be ‘field-tested’.  However, we recognize that this 
suggestion came after the IPSASB’s approval of the Exposure Draft; moreover, the 4-
month exposure period in this case did not allow for any meaningful ‘field-testing’ to 
take place. 
 
In our view it is essential for the IPSASB to receive substantive input on this Exposure 
Draft from preparers and auditors of governmental financial reports in developing 
countries, in order for there to be a mature discussion about implementation issues.  We 
are aware that several IPSASB developing country members are facilitating submissions 
from preparers and/or auditors in their own jurisdictions; and that the IFAC Developing 
Nations Task Force has also undertaken to make its own submission.  Once the exposure 
period closes, we strongly encourage the IPSASB to undertake a quick review of the 
profile of respondents, to gauge the degree to which developing country preparers and 
auditors have made their views known.  If there is only limited developing country 
participation, we would recommend that alternative means of outreach to the developing 
country constituency be instigated, and we would be happy to assist in this endeavor, to 
the extent that we can make a useful contribution. 
 
Given the topic of this Exposure Draft, in our view the credibility of a future standard 
will be seriously undermined if the IPSASB is not able to demonstrate that the views of 
recipients of external assistance have been taken into account in the exposure process. 
 
 
2. Adoption of the Standard 
 
(i) Technical Complexity 
There is considerable scope for improvement in the quality and consistency of financial 
information provided by recipients of external assistance.  In the absence of generally 
accepted practice in this area, financial reporting focuses on meeting the information 
requirements of donors, rather than catering to the needs of general purpose users.  There 
is therefore little question of the need for the standardization that this Exposure Draft 
proposes. 
 
That said, we are concerned that the requirements of the Exposure Draft are highly 
prescriptive and complex.  Specifically we have concerns about the following: 
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• Paragraphs 13 – 14: the requirement to disclose separately: 

I. External assistance received directly in cash; 
II. External assistance paid by third parties that are part of the economic entity; 

III. External assistance paid by third parties that are not part of the economic entity 
 

• Paragraph 22: the requirement to disclose undrawn external assistance, categorized by 
type of assistance, by financial instrument (loan or grant), by source, and by currency. 

 
• Paragraph 44 – the requirement to disclose the fair values of goods and services 

received in kind. 
 
We are also concerned about the complexity of the illustrative disclosures in Appendix 1. 
 
We recommend that the IPSASB: 
 

a) Reconsider the proposed disclosure requirements, taking into account the limited 
capacity of many of the entities that may seek to comply with this standard; 

b) Review the proposed levels of detail being proposed (for example, in paragraphs 
13 -14 and 22), and whether the additional benefits this information might confer 
on general purpose users of financial statements would outweigh the incremental 
compliance costs; 

c) Consider whether the proposed disclosures could be categorized into those that 
are mandatory, and those that are voluntary, consistent with the approach adopted 
in the Cash Basis IPSAS, Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of 
Accounting; 

d) Reflect any changes to the proposed disclosure requirements in a simplified 
Appendix I. 

 
A possible basis for categorizing disclosures as mandatory and optional as suggested at 
(c) above would be to: require disclosure of all items that would not impact the primary 
accounting records that would be maintained in a cash accounting system (viz., external 
assistance received by the reporting entity in cash or cash equivalents) and encourage but 
not require the disclosure of items that would not impact the accounting records. 
 
 
(ii) Inter-relationship Between ED24 and the Cash Basis IPSAS, Financial 

Reporting Under the Cash Basis of Accounting 
ED24 is presented as an adjunct to, and should be read in conjunction with, the Cash 
Basis IPSAS.  This approach is consistent with the initial project brief, which was for the 
development of a separate standard on the subject of development assistance.   
 
However, now that the proposed requirements have been promulgated in the Exposure 
Draft, we would recommend that the IPSASB give serious consideration to combining 
the content of this Exposure Draft with the broader requirements of the omnibus Cash 
Basis IPSAS.  In our view, this would considerably simplify for users the task of 
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complying with the IPSASB’s recognition and disclosure requirements for cash 
accounting. 
 
When the Cash Basis IPSAS was issued, the IPSASB made a commitment to review its 
implementation experience after two years.  The occasion of this review would present an 
opportunity to consolidate the two documents into one. 
 
 
3. Technical Issues 
 
Specific Matters for Comment 
 
1. The proposed definition of ‘external assistance’ 
The ED defines External Assistance as ‘…all official resources which the recipient can 
use or otherwise benefit from in pursuit of its objectives’.  This definition is clearly 
sufficiently broad to encompass all official resources received.   
 
2. Whether other sources of assistance should be included 
The draft standard aims to enhance accountability for the use of external assistance 
received.  In this context, there appear to be no compelling reasons for the scope of the 
standard to be restricted to official resources.  
 
3. Specification of the categories of external assistance 
We fully support the proposal to require separate disclosure of the major classes of 
external assistance received.  However, we do not agree with the Exposure Draft’s 
proposals to specify the categories of external assistance (viz., development assistance, 
trade finance, emergency assistance, military assistance and balance of payments 
assistance).  This proposal pre-supposes that preparers of financial statements will 
maintain their accounting records in a way that facilitates such categorization for 
financial reporting purposes.  In our view, this is unlikely to be the case, especially in 
light of the donor-centric nature of the proposed categories.   
 
Where preparers do not maintain their accounting records in a way that supports the 
categories proposed by the Exposure Draft, complying with the standard will be more 
costly than would otherwise be the case.  We also question whether specifying the 
categories will result in the provision of information that is meaningful for users.  Given 
the considerable overlap between the proposed categories (for example: development 
assistance usually provides balance of payments support; certain types of military 
assistance support economic development), there is likely to be some inconsistency in the 
reporting of these categories in different entities’ financial statements. 
 
For these reasons, we recommend that the standard require the disclosure of the major 
classes of external assistance received, but should not seek to specify what those 
categories are – similar to the approach adopted in other IPSASs for other financial 
statement elements. 
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4. Disclosure of the balance of, and changes in, undrawn external assistance 
5. Disclosure of the terms and conditions of external assistance agreements, and any 

non-compliance therewith 
6. Disclosure of the fair value of non-cash goods-in-kind 
7. The appropriateness of the proposed disclosures 
Items 3-7 are all concerned with the proposed disclosure requirements under the draft 
standard, certain aspects of which we have already commented on (see above, 
specifically in relation to items 3 and 7). 
 
With regard to item 4, our view is that excessive detail is being proposed.  We would 
support the requirement to disclose the balance of undrawn external assistance, but it is 
not clear what additional benefits would flow from an analysis of movements, split into 
loans and grants, and categorized by type of assistance.  
 
With regard to item 5, we generally support the requirement to disclose the terms and 
conditions of external assistance agreements.  In our view it is unlikely that a requirement 
to disclose non-compliance with those terms and conditions will be adopted. 
 
With regard to item 6, we question whether the likely costs of collecting reliable 
information on the fair values of non-cash goods received in kind are justified by the 
benefits to users of disclosing this information. 
 
8. Transitional Provisions 
The transitional period (2 years) for full compliance with the standard appears 
reasonable.  We concur with exempting the requirement to disclose comparative figures 
during the first year of application. 
 
 
Other Technical Issues 
 

• Introductory paragraph – the preamble to the Standard should state clearly that 
full compliance with the Cash Basis IPSAS requires compliance with the 
requirements of this Standard. 

 
• Paragraphs 7-9 outlines some circumstances under which the various types of 

assistance may be provided, and the nature of the relationships between recipients 
and development agencies.  Since the circumstances under which individual 
recipients contract with development agencies may vary widely, we would 
suggest that much of the content of these paragraphs could be omitted.  The 
substantive technical issue being raised – that statements of intent/pledges are 
binding on neither party – should, however, be retained. 

 
• Appendix 3 addresses rescheduling and canceling debt.  As this is not the subject 

matter of this Standard, we suggest that it be deleted. 
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ESAAG Specific Matters for Comment on ED24 
 
 
1. Whether the proposed definition of “external assistance” in paragraph 5 is 

sufficiently broad to encompass all official resources received. 

Comment 

The definition seems wide and sufficiently broad.  As indicated so many terms 
are used depending on the source of aid as well as terminologies in the host or 
recipient countries and having agreed terminology helps in resolving this 
matter. 

2. Whether other sources of assistance, such as assistance provided by 
nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), should also be included in the 
definition of “external assistance”. Currently, the Exposure Draft requires 
that entities disclose all official resources received. Official resources as 
defined in paragraph 5 would exclude certain assistance received from NGOs. 

Comment 

          We propose exclusion of NGOs assistance from the definition of external 
assistance.  This is for practical reasons when you consider the capacity of 
developing countries’ ability to track all the aid coming and being able to 
account for it.  It is better to walk first before trying to run.  Most countries 
would just give up before they even start applying this proposed standard if 
NGO assistance and other issues are included.  The exception should be cash 
which is given to a government by an NGO as part of an agreement; this 
should be included in the definition. 

3. Whether the Exposure Draft should specify the categories of external 
assistance as required in paragraphs 13-15 or only require the disclosure of 
external assistance by “major classes” without further specification. 

Comment 

This ED is overly ambitious, particularly if developing countries are going to 
be applying it.  Simplicity in our view is the key.  These categories are too 
cumbersome, perhaps the same approach of Mandatory and Recommended 
parts as in the initial Cash Basis IPSAS should be followed.  Some of the 
categories such as military assistance may even be offensive in other quarters.  
That doesn’t justify not reporting though but the realities on the ground 
should not be ignored.  Perhaps broad groups of not more than three such as 
“Developmental”, “Welfare”, and “Other” could be considered. 
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4. The proposal to disclose the balance of, and changes in, undrawn external 
assistance during the period (paragraph 22). 

Comment 

Disclosure of undrawn external assistance is good practice but perhaps it 
should be in the recommended part of the proposed standard.  A significant 
number of countries in East and Southern Africa do produce statements on 
public debt which reflect the original amounts of loans and the undrawn 
balances in schedules to the Public Debt statement.  The problem arises with 
grants, technical assistance and other forms of aid where information is 
extremely difficult to find. 

 

5. The proposal to disclose the terms and conditions of external assistance 
agreements as required by paragraphs 26-28 and any non-compliance thereof 
(paragraph 36). 

Comment 

This in our view is too onerous for the countries targeted for this standard.  
Perhaps again if the standard is split into mandatory and recommended parts 
then this can be put in the recommended part.  The annual reports produced 
so far by governments in East and Southern Africa are just voluminous and to 
add this would make them just too big and intimidating to any reader. 

6. Whether the proposals in paragraph 44 as noted below are appropriate: 
 
(a) To disclose the fair value of non-cash goods-in-kind; and 
 
(b) That fair value should be based on the prices of equivalent goods or 
services in the recipient country. 

Comment 

For practical reasons this is going to be very difficult to apply.  We propose 
that the note remains for disclosure in the mandatory part but perhaps the 
values can be put in the recommended part of the standard. 
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7. Whether the disclosures proposed are appropriate. If the disclosures are 
considered excessive, the IPSASB would welcome input on which disclosures 
should not be required. The IPSASB would also welcome input on any key 
disclosures that have not been dealt with and should be required. 

Comment 

There is no doubt that a standard embraced by donors and recipients on 
External assistance would really be very helpful in discharging accountability  
and resolving issues of comparability and reducing costs of administration on 
the part of recipients.  However, it must be mentioned that the systems and 
capacities of developing countries which are the target of the standard are 
very fragile and weak in most cases.  Because of these reasons the standard 
should be simple and practical as the current Cash Basis IPSAS is at the 
moment.  The approach of two parts, the mandatory and recommended, in the 
current Cash Basis IPSAS needs to be considered for the External Assistance 
proposed Standard.  It is a very good and practical approach which the 
recipient countries may find useful if applied.  A lot of the disclosures in this 
proposal are too onerous for the developing countries.  

 

8. Whether the proposal in paragraph 54: 
 
(a) For a transition period of two years is sufficient to apply this Standard. Is a 
longer transitional period necessary to ensure that the appropriate authorities 
in each recipient country are able to access the data necessary to properly 
account for external assistance? 
 
 
(b) To exempt the requirement to disclose comparative figures during the first 
year of application of this Standard is appropriate. 

Comment 

Both provisions are helpful and will give relief for preparation to apply the 
standard.  These are useful and are supported. 
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Comments to  
”Disclosure Requirement for Recipients of External Assistance” 
(Proposed IPSAS, International Public Sector Accounting Standard) 
 
General 
Sida welcomes the effort to harmonize various donor requirements for how 
external assistance should be disclosed in recipient countries’ financial 
reports because this will ease the burden for the cooperation 
governments, not only Ministries of Finance but also other ministries, 
agencies and other public bodies.  
 
However: 

• The fact that donors make adherence to “international accounting 
standards” a condition for grants/loans force governments to 
implement accounting reforms they may not otherwise have chosen 
to implement (for perfectly respectable reasons) 

• Normally, accounting for appropriations and revenue according to 
structures in the government budget is a legal requirement and a 
democratic necessity. IPSAS do not take such requirements into 
consideration and may take precedence over them due to donor 
pressure although IFAC/PSC does not have any status as a 
regulatory body over governments/parliaments 

• The proposed IPSAS places high demands on recipient 
governments’ capacity. It is not clear to which extent the information 
requirements have been guided by information needs in that 
country and in the donor community, respectively (eg. the need for 
comparison between countries seems more pressing for donors 
than for recipient governments whose needs may be different). It is 
also unclear whether governments in donor countries would be 
able, and willing, to disclose the information required in this IPSAS. 

 
Structural 
Five types of assistance must be shown separately.  

• There is often a blurred line between Development Assistance and 
(long standing) Emergency Assistance. Which is the information 
need for separate items? 

• Balance of Payment assistance is applicable only to National Banks 
– which may, or may not be part of the Government accounting 
structure – in emergency situations and only from one donor (IMF). 
It seems questionable to include the item in regular accounting 
reports from any government institution. 

• Programme (budget/sector) support is reported together with 
project support 

• Which is the information need for a separate Export finance item? 
(art 15 et al) 
 
Five forms of assistance must be distinguished: 
Under cash basis of accounting, only grants (1) and loans (2) actually 
received by the entity during the period should appear in the accounts – 
here, the separation of loans from other types of revenue is necessary. In 
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addition, the IPSAS requires separate disclosure of cash paid on an 
entity’s behalf by a third party within (3) and outside (4) of the economic 
entity, respectively. Moreover, the entity is required to disclose goods and 
services received in-kind (5), valued at “fair value” (which is probably often 
difficult to establish – eg. a used car, consultancy services or medicine); 
however the difference between these figures and payments on the 
entity’s behalf (3-4) may be difficult to distinguish. It is also doubtful 
whether supporting documents from donors will be available. Although 
there is undoubtedly a certain value in obtaining information on all these 
different types of assistance, the associated amount of work and difficulty 
may not make it valuable enough.  
 
In addition, the entity should disclose the sources of external assistance, 
irrespectively of their size or importance. 
Moreover, the entity must disclose the amount of loans that have been 
re-lent or other types of assistance that have been assigned to another 
entity. This may not always be easy considering that only parts of an 
amount may have been passed on, and that some of the resources may 
be in-kind. 
(These four structures are found in art. 15-18, 21, 43) 
 
In Sida’s view it is of outmost importance to ensure that our partners 
get the basics right first. A sequenced phasing-in of increasingly more 
complicated information requirements must be made possible. 
 
Undrawn external assistance should also be disclosed, both grants, loans 
and guarantees. It is unclear whether grants in the form of third-party 
payments and/or gifts in-kind are included here; if so it may sometimes be 
difficult to establish whether or not the assistance has actually been 
received according to the agreement/pledge. According to art. 8-12, only 
amounts covered by a written agreement with a donor should be included. 
This has the advantage of ensuring that amounts are reasonably reliable, 
and that supporting documentation exists. However, donors can often only 
make one-year commitments, and support during future years are made in 
the form of pledges and/or indications, sometimes orally at formal 
meetings or in public; sometimes in writing. Increasing coverage means 
reducing reliability – it is important to strike a balance here. 
 
The requirement to disclose exchange rate differences is an additional 
burden, but the information must be available in the government anyway, 
at least for outstanding loans, and is therefore not unreasonable. 
(Art. 23-24) 
 
However the requirement to disclose terms or conditions of external grants 
or loans – both according to agreements and whether or not they have 
been met – does not provide for guidance on level of detail. If every 
condition in every agreement is to be listed, the list would become very 
long and not very useful. (Art 27-42) The line between earmarking and 
conditionality (art 30) is not clear. 
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Article 36 includes the requirement for disclosure of (any?) 
non-compliance with conditions. However it may not always be clear, at 
the time the financial reports are prepared, whether or not conditions have 
been complied with – and furthermore there may be disagreement 
between the government and a donor about the extent to which a 
condition has been violated. Should such disputable instances of non- 
compliance be separately disclosed? 
 
In article 33, the focus is on guarantees, but the amounts to disclose relate 
to outstanding balance of loans. This means that guarantees that have 
been issued but that do not cover any loan (because a loan has been 
repaid or not yet received) and therefore gives additional borrowing 
potential are not taken into consideration. If this is the intention, 
guarantees should rather be handled in connection with article 23a dealing 
with outstanding loans. However not all loans may have been provided as 
external assistance, but may be commercial. Therefore the relationship 
between loans and guarantees may need to be clarified – at least in the 
IPSAS (another disclosure requirement may break the camel’s neck). 
When are grants covered by a guarantee?  
 
Details 
Articles 8-10 may be drastically shortened with a description of what 
constitutes an agreement which results in an amount being included in the 
balance of undrawn assistance (however see discussion about pledged or 
indicative amounts above) 
 
Article 28 may be rewritten to include the provisions of articles 27 and 29; 
the same is valid for article 30 to include articles 31-32. 
 
Besides, there are a few minor instances of wording where I will be 
pleased to suggest changes. 
 
 
 
 
For Sida, the Swedish International Development Co-operation Agency 
 
Sten Ström 
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